
OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
7275 West Main Street 
Kalamazoo, MI  49009 

269.375.4260 
 

April 28, 2020 
 

BOARD WORK SESSION 
(Refer www.oshtemo.org Notice Board for Virtual Meeting Information, or page 3 of packet) 

6:00 p.m. 
AGENDA 

 
A. Call to Order 

B. Consideration of Village Theme Plan Amendments – PUBLIC HEARING 

C. Discussion on Zoning Amendments Landscaping  

D. Consideration of Zoning Ordinance Amendments – FIRST READING  

a. Lighting 

b. Setbacks 

c. Accessory Buildings  

E. Consideration of Public Sanitary Sewer Hardship Financing or Deferment 

Ordinance – SECOND READING   

F. Public Comment 

G. Other Updates and Business 

 

http://www.oshtemo.org/


Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting:  

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for dialogue
and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may be delegated
to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated questions can be
answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email (oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-
in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited.
At the close of public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include
questions are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further
research, and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board
deliberation which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual capabilities 
of the meeting room.  Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required.   

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on which 
the public hearing is being conducted.  Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be directed to 
any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting.  

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to  the orderly 
conduct of business.  The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which does 
not follow these guidelines.  

(adopted 5/9/2000) 

(revised 5/14/2013) 

(revised 1/8/2018)

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone 
calls, stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from 
Monday-Thursday 8:00 am- 5:00 pm, and on Friday 8:00 am-1:00 pm. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person.   

Oshtemo Township 

Board of Trustees 

Supervisor   
 Libby Heiny-Cogswell  216-5220      libbyhc@oshtemo.org  

Clerk   
Dusty Farmer   216-5224       dfarmer@oshtemo.org   

Treasurer   

Grant Taylor 216-5221     gtaylor@oshtemo.org

Trustees   

Deb Everett 375-4260     deverett@oshtemo.org  

Zak Ford  271-5513     zford@oshtemo.org

Ken Hudok       548-7002     khudok@oshtemo.org

Township Department Information 
Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 216-5225  assessor@oshtemo.org

Fire Chief: 

Mark Barnes 375-0487  mbarnes@oshtemo.org

Ordinance Enf: 

Rick Suwarsky  216-5227   rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
Parks Director: 

Karen High 216-5233   khigh@oshtemo.org
     Rental Info      216-5224   oshtemo@oshtemo.org

Planning Director: 

Iris Lubbert 216-5223    ilubbert@oshtemo.org

Public Works: 

Marc Elliott 216-5236    melliott@oshtemo.org

Cheri L. Bell 372-2275 cbell@oshtemo.org

mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:ncoshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:dboshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:%20%20%20%20%20deverett@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:khudok@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:mbarnes@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:jjohnston@oshtemo.org
mailto:melliott@oshtemo.org


Zoom Instructions for Participants 
 
Before a videoconference: 

1. You will need a computer, tablet, or smartphone with a speaker or headphones. You will 
have the opportunity to check your audio immediately upon joining a meeting. 

 
2. If you are going to make a public comment, please use a microphone or headphones 

with a microphone to cut down on feedback, if possible. 
 

3. Details, phone numbers, and links to videoconference or conference call are provided 
below. The details include a link to “Join via computer” as well as phone numbers for a 
conference call option. It will also include the 9-digit Meeting ID. 

 
To join the videoconference: 

1. At the start time of the meeting, click on this link to join via computer. You may be 
instructed to download the Zoom application. 

2. You have an opportunity to test your audio at this point by clicking on “Test Computer 
Audio.” Once you are satisfied that your audio works, click on “Join audio by computer.” 

 
You may also join a meeting without the link by going to join.zoom.us on any browser and entering 
this Meeting ID: 912 7023 1450 

 
If you are having trouble hearing the meeting or do not have the ability to join using a computer, 
tablet or smartphone then you can join via conference call by following instructions below. 

 
To join the conference by phone: 

1. On your phone, dial the toll-free teleconferencing number: 1-929-205-6099 
2. When prompted using your touchtone (DTMF) keypad, enter the Meeting ID number: 

912 7023 1450# 
 
Participant controls in the lower-left corner of the Zoom screen: 

 

Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen, you can (some features will be locked to participants 
during the meeting): 

• Participants – opens a pop-out screen that includes a “Raise Hand” icon that you may 
use to raise a virtual hand. This will be used to indicate that you want to make a public 
comment. 

• Chat – opens pop-up screen that allows participants to post comments during the 
meeting. 

 
Public comments will be handled by the “Raise Hand” method as instructed above within Participant 
Controls. 

https://zoom.us/j/91270231450
https://join.zoom.us/


Memo 
To: Oshtemo Charter Township Board 

From: Julie Johnston, AICP 

Planning Consultant 
 

Date: February 2, 2020 

Mtg Date: April 28, 2020 

Subject: Draft Village Theme Development Plan Public Hearing 
 

 

OBJECTIVE 
 

Public hearing and consideration of approval of the draft Village Theme Development Plan. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 

Prior to the construction of the interstate highways that border Oshtemo, 9th Street and 

Stadium Drive served as the major access roads for the Township. A historic village 

developed at the junction of these roads and was often referred to as the Oshtemo Village, 

although it never incorporated as such. In 2004, the Downtown Development Authority 

(DDA) was established in this area with boundaries that incorporated the historic village. 

 
In 2006, the Township approved the Village Theme Development Plan, which provided a 

vision for the DDA district. The essential goal of the Plan was to recreate the aesthetics of 

an historic village, which was lost overtime as redevelopment occurred in this area. 

 
The Village Form-Based Code Overlay, developed and approved in 2008, was a result of 

the Village Theme Development Plan. This ordinance regulates new development within 

the Village area, requiring traditional urban design standards like build-to lines close to the 

road right-of-way, opacity of building facades, no parking in the front yards, two story 

building heights, etc. 

 
In 2016, the DDA began to become concerned with the lack of new construction within the 

Village. Development seemed to be occurring in earnest in other areas of the Township, but 

not within the 9th Street and Stadium Drive area. Discussions related to the Village Form-

Based Code Overlay and its possible impact on new development was outlined as a 

primary concern. 



Oshtemo Township Board  

Village Theme Development Plan 
04/28/2020 

 

 

Prior to requesting the Township consider any possible changes to the Form-Based Code, the DDA felt 

that a review of the 2006 Plan was needed. Public input was garnered as part of the creation of the 

2006 Plan and the DDA wanted the public, property owners, business owners, etc. from within the 

Village, as well as throughout Oshtemo Township, the opportunity to weigh in on any possible changes 

to the Plan. 

 
A request was presented to the Township Board in late 2016 to complete this project and Wade Trim, a 

planning consulting firm, was hired to assist with the review and possible updates of the 2006 Plan. In 

addition, a subcommittee of four members from the DDA and Planning Commission was formed in early 

2017 to help guide the public input process, review the draft plans, and make recommendations on 

possible changes. 

 
The Plan review process was designed to consider and accomplish the following: 

 
1. Gather citizen and stakeholder opinions to confirm the preferred vision for the village and 

evaluate the effectiveness of the Plan. 

 
2. Investigate the perception that development within the village has been limited, in comparison 

to development elsewhere in the Township and region, since the original adoption of the Plan. 

 
3. Review changing conditions that may impact development within the village, such as economic 

trends, demographic/lifestyle preferences, traffic/recent road improvements, and pedestrian 

connectivity efforts. 

 
4. Recognizing that the local road network is under the jurisdiction of the County, consider the 

impact that County street design policies have on the existing and planned character of 

development within the village. 

 
5. Evaluate and outline necessary changes to currently adopted zoning regulations to ensure that 

such regulations facilitate development which contributes to the desired mixed-use character of 

the village. 

 
Public input was garnered throughout the review and development of the draft Update. Stakeholder 

interviews were held in May of 2017. Some of these were one-on-one interview sessions and some 

were in small groups. The stakeholders represented varying interests, including citizens, township 

leaders, property owners, business owners, and real estate/development community representatives. 

The interviews were designed to gather input on the effectiveness of the 2006 Village Theme 

Development Plan and Village Form-Based Codes. 

 
Two workshops were also held. The first occurred in June of 2017, which was focused on visioning 

exercises for the Village area. Participants were asked the following questions: 

 
1. Whether the vision from the Village Theme Development Plan continues to reflect local values, 

desires and needs. 



Oshtemo Township Board  

Village Theme Development Plan 
04/28/2020 

 

 
 

2. Whether the Form Based Code for Oshtemo Village, which was adopted after the Plan, has 

been successful and results in quality development. 

 
3. Whether changes to the Village Theme Development Plan are needed. 

 
4. Whether changes to the Form Based Code/zoning requirements are needed. 

 
The second workshop was in October of 2017 and provided a series of development/redevelopment 

scenarios for the Village area, asking participants to evaluate the merits of each scenario. In addition, 

development principles were reviewed, to see if the Village design guidelines were still considered 

applicable to the area today. The intent was to get a sense of the design and development aesthetic 

desired in the Village area. 

 
At the conclusion of the public process in October of 2017, the draft of the Village Theme Development 

Plan was completed. In order to ensure the Planning Commission and Township Board were up to 

date on the direction of the draft Plan, it was presented at a joint Board meeting in February of 2018. 

 
At that meeting, there was some concern related to lessening the requirements to construct buildings 

immediately adjacent to the street right-of-way and allowing parking within the front yard. This change in 

the Plan, which would and ultimately inform changes to the Form-Based Code, could alter the desired 

appearance of the Village area by permitting some distance between the buildings and the street right-

of-way. As is often seen in traditional downtowns, buildings are constructed immediately adjacent to 

the sidewalk, which is part of the road right-of-way. 

 
At the conclusion of the joint meeting, it was decided that the Village Theme Development Plan should be 

included in the Planning Commission’s work plan. It was determined that the subcommittee had taken 

the Plan as far as it could, and it was time for the Commission to complete their review. Due to work 

loads and other ongoing projects, the draft Plan had not been included on the Commissions agenda for 

some time. However, in July of this year, the DDA requested the Planning Commission review the 

Plan, make any possible changes/additions needed, and forward to the Township Board for 

consideration of approval. 

 
The Planning Commission began their review at the September 12th regular meeting. Discussion was 

held about the impacts of allowing the Form-Based Code to ultimately be altered if the Village Theme 

Development Plan was adopted. At the conclusion of the meeting, additional information was 

requested on the effect of the possible zoning changes recommended by the draft Village Theme 

Development Plan. This information was provided at their September 26th meeting. 

 
In addition, a request was made related to the two new projects that have developed within the Form- 

Based Code Overlay area – the residential memory care center on Stadium Drive and the veterinary 

hospital on Parkview Avenue. Specifically, they were interested in the number and type of deviations 

from the Form-Based Code that were provided as part of site plan approval. This information was 

provided for Planning Commission review. 



Oshtemo Township Board  

Village Theme Development Plan 
04/28/2020 

 

 
 

Final changes to the draft Village Theme Development Plan based on Planning Commission input was 

presented at their October 10, 2019 meeting, as follows: 

 
• The acknowledgements page was updated. 

• Information from the GO! Green Oshtemo Plan was included on page 18. 

• The DDA streetscape plan information was updated on page 19. 

• The zoning amendment recommendations were added to page 49. 

 
After a review of these amendments, the Planning Commission felt the goals and objectives of the draft 

Plan were needed to encourage new economic growth in the Village area. They voted to set the Plan 

public hearing, which was held on October 24, 2019. At the conclusion of the public hearing, the 

Planning Commission motioned to forward the draft Village Theme Development Plan to the Township 

Board for approval. The motion was approved unanimously. 

 

The Township Board discussed the draft Plan at the December 10, 2019 meeting.  No additional 

changes were requested that evening and the Board moved the project forward to consideration of 

final approval.  If the Board choses to adopt the Village Theme Development Plan at the February 11 th 

meeting, it would become an official document of the Township allowing staff to move forward with the 

Plan goals. 

 
INFORMATION PROVIDED 
 

The draft Village Theme Development Plan can be found as part of the digital Township Board agenda 

packet at the following link: 

 
https://www.oshtemo.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Village-Theme-Development.pdf 
 

The 2006 Village Theme Development Plan can be found on the Oshtemo Township Planning Department 

webpage or at the following link: 

 
https://www.oshtemo.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Village-Theme-Development-Plan.pdf 

https://www.oshtemo.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Village-Theme-Development.pdf
https://www.oshtemo.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Village-Theme-Development-Plan.pdf


Memo 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Mtg Date: 

Subject: 

Oshtemo Charter Township Board 

Julie Johnston, AICP 

Planning Consultant 

February 2, 2020 

April 28, 2020

Draft Landscape Ordinance 

OBJECTIVE 

Discussion of the draft Landscape Ordinance, which would replace the current Landscaping 

Ordinance. 

BACKGROUND 

In 2016, the Planning Commission worked for several months developing a new Landscape 
Ordinance.  Time was spent in the field reviewing the landscaping at existing developed sites and 
other community ordinances were examined for comparisons. A revised draft Landscape 
Ordinance was developed, which staff applied to existing sites around Oshtemo for the 
Commission to review.   

At the conclusion of the draft ordinance review, the Planning Commission began working on 
revising and reorganizing the entirety of the Zoning Ordinance.  It was decided to table the new 
Landscape Ordinance to become a part of that project instead of holding the public hearings for 
adoption. As time constraints persisted, the revised/reorganized Zoning Ordinance project was 
reduced to being primarily a “reorganization” project.  Sweeping changes to the Ordinance, which 
were originally envisioned, were tabled until after the reorganization was complete. 

The Planning Commission resumed its review of the Landscape Ordinance in July of 2019. 
Several meetings were held where additional amendments were completed. As this is a complete 
rewrite of the current ordinance the typical red and strikethrough language has not been 
employed.   

The draft Ordinance that was presented at the Planning Commission public hearing differs from 
the Township’s existing ordinance in the following ways:  

1. The draft Ordinance requires an overall percentage of the site have interior landscaping
as opposed to the linear buffers along each property line. The result of this is that
landscaping increases proportional to the size of the site. Smaller properties are not
burdened with the same 10 – 20-foot buffers along each property line as larger sites.



Oshtemo Township Board  

Draft Landscape Ordinance 

04/28/2020 

2. However, parking lot landscaping has increased for sites that having 1 – 50 parking
spaces, helping to deter large areas of pavement by requiring more green space.

3. The current ordinance is very specific where landscaping must occur – at the property
lines and in parking lots. The draft ordinance requires landscaping in the parking lots and
along public and private rights-of-way but allows the design professional to determine
where the rest of the required landscaping will be planned on the site.

4. The total number of required trees is slightly less than the current ordinance, which will
hopefully allow tree species a better opportunity to survive on the site.

5. There are very specific requirements for opaque screening between incompatible land
uses in the recommended ordinance, which can include a variety of berms, fences, walls,
landscape materials, etc.  But the screening must be six feet in height and opaque.  The
current ordinance requires larger buffer zones between incompatible uses, but the plant
materials are generally trees, which do not provide much screening when the lower
branches reach a height beyond five feet.

6. For certain landscape plans, the seal of on architect is required in the recommended
ordinance.  This is to ensure that if someone is requesting tree credits or wishes to submit
an alternate approach to the landscaping requirements, a landscape design professional
is creating the plans.

Further comparison of the two ordinances is detailed below: 

Existing Ordinance Draft Ordinance 

Interior Landscaping No 10 percent 

Screening No 

Between nonresidential and 
residential and between multi-

family and single-family. 
6-foot opaque visual barrier.

Buffer zones 
At every property line.  Size 

dependent on adjacent uses. 

30 feet between nonresidential and 
residential and between multi-

family and single-family. 

Parking lots 

Percentage based on number of 
spaces. Percentage requirement 
has tiers, the more spaces the 
higher the square footage per 

space.  
A 50-space lot must have 15 
square feet of landscaping for 

every space or 750 square feet. 

25 square feet per parking lot 
space (for lots over 10 spaces). A 

50-space lot must have 1,250
square feet of landscaping.

Street Rights of Way Part of buffer zone around site 
Yes – 20 feet for public, 15 for 

private. 



Oshtemo Township Board  

Draft Landscape Ordinance 

04/28/2020 

As stated, the Planning Commission reviewed the draft Ordinance against existing developed 
sites.  The table below provides a comparison of the Wal Mart property on 9th Street: 

Wal Mart Site Existing Ordinance Draft Ordinance 

Total Landscaped Area 83,990 square feet 152,355 square feet 

Total Landscape Materials 634 503 

Canopy Trees 198 199 

Understory Trees 98 70 

Shrubs 338 234 

After receiving public input at the December 12, 2019 meeting, the Planning Commission 
motioned to forward the draft Landscape Ordinance to the Township Board with a 
recommendation of approval. 

INFORMATION PROVIDED 

Existing Landscape Ordinance 
Draft Landscape Ordinance  
Planning Commission minutes excerpt – 12/12/19 



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ )�*

+,-./01�2323�4�0+567/+8.59/:;<=;<>?23@AB�7-+-1�CD�8E,8C7123@FB�7/C8123@3B�9151,+0�8,CG.7.C5723@HB�61D.5.-.C5723@2B�9,11578+/1�+,1+723@IB�7EJ6.G.7.C57�K�7.-1�/C56CL.5.EL723@MB�8+,N.59�+,1+�0+567/+8.5923@OB�C-P1,�7.-1�0+567/+8.59�,1QE.,1L15-723@RB�L+-1,.+0�,1QE.,1L15-7�+56�L+.5-15+5/123@ABB�8,171,G+-.C5�/,16.-723@AAB�.5/15-.G17�DC,�,17-C,.59�8,1S71--01L15-�G191-+-.C523@AFB�-,11�8,C-1/-.C5�6E,.59�/C57-,E/-.C523@A3B�8,CG.7.C57�DC,�1T.7-.59�7.-1723@AHB�1T/18-.C5723@AB�7-+-1�CD�8E,8C71UVW�XYZX[\W�[]�̂V_\�̀ZabcW�_\�̂[�d\\_\̂�dcc�cdef�Y\W\�ZWgY_Z_eh�i_̂W�jcde�ZWk_Wl�_e�mWWaeh�fW\_ZWf�cdef\bdX_eh�[noWbakW\def�̂[�\Ŵ�][ẐV�m_e_mYm�pŴ�qWr_ncW�\̂defdZf\�][Z�ZWgY_ZWf�cdef\bdXW�dZWd\s�UVW�[noWbakW\�def�]Yeba[e\�[]�̂VWcdef\bdXW�ZWgY_ZWmWê\�dZW�̂[tuebZWd\W�b[mXdan_c_̂p�nŴlWWe�dnYveh�def�dfodbWê�Y\W\�_ebcYf_eh�XYnc_b�def�XZ_kd̂W�Z[df\�def�̂[�XZ[k_fW�nYwWZ_ehnŴlWWe�f_\\_m_cdZ�cdef�Y\W\sjZ[̂Wb̂�ZW\_fWeadc�gYdc_̂p�[]�c_]WsumXZ[kW�d_Z�gYdc_̂p�def�XZ[k_fW�\VdfWsxWbZWd\W�l_ef�kWc[b_̂py�ZWfYbW�\[_c�WZ[\_[e�def�_ebZWd\W�\YZ]dbW�ld̂WZ�ZŴWea[eszWfYbW�hcdZW�]Z[m�nY_cf_eh\y�bdZ\y�e_hV̂�c_hVaehy�def�[̂VWZ�\[YZbW\sibZWWe�Yed{ZdbakW�]Wd̂YZW\szWfYbW�e[_\WsxW|eW�\d]W�dbbW\\�def�b_ZbYcda[es}eVdebW�[Z�][bY\�d{Wea[e�̂[ldZf�d�]Wd̂YZW�~nY_cf_ehy�WêZdebWy�\_hey�Ŵbs�jZ[k_fW�k_\Ydc�ZWc_W]�]Z[m�m[e[̂[e[Y\�]Wd̂YZW\�\YbV�d\�nY_cf_eh�ldcc\y�cdZhW�XdZ�_eh�c[̂\�def�\̂ZWŴ\sf̀f�ed̂YZdc�b[c[Z�def�̂Wr̂YZW�def�XZ[k_fW�Vdn_̂d̂�][Z�l_cfc_]Ws}eVdebW�def�md_êd_e�̂VW�dZWd�\�ed̂YZdc�bVdZdb̂WZ�def�XZ[k_fW�hZWWe\XdbWs23@FB�7/C81c̀c�Y\W\�\YnoWb̂�̂[�i_̂W�jcde�ZWk_Wl�\Vdcc�nW�cdef\bdXWf�_e�dbb[ZfdebW�l_̂V�d�Xcde�mWWaeh�̂VW�ZWgY_ZWmWê\�[]�̂V_\Z̀abcWs23@3B�9151,+0�8,CG.7.C57



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ ��)

*+�,-./-01�-2�345�1635�0-3�758-357�3-�9--.�:.5:;�<:.=60>;�:??511�@:A1�-.�<57513.6:0�B15�14:CC�D5�:<<.-<.6:35CA�C:071?:<57@634�C685�<C:03�E:35.6:C�?-0161/0>�-2�75?67B-B1�?:0-<A�:07�?-0625.-B1�3.551;�B075.13-.A�3.551;�14.BD1;�>.-B07�?-85.;:07�>.:1151�:07�E:603:6057�60�:�05:3�:07�-.75.CA�E:005.+F+�*�C:071?:<60>�<C:0�7.:@0�3-�1?:C5�14:CC�D5�1BDE6G57�753:6C60>�345�C-?:/-0;�3A<5�:07�16H5�-2�:CC�<C:03�E:35.6:C;�D5.E1;@:CC1�:07�250?51;�:07�3456.�.5C:/-0146<�3-�5I61/0>�:07�<.-<-157�2:?6C6/51;�13.B?3B.51;�<:85E503;�:07�:??511�<-6031+�J3EB13�D5�-2�1BK?6503�753:6C�2-.�345�.5865@60>�D-7A�3-�7535.E605�62�63�?-02-.E1�@634�3461�*./?C5+�,C:01�14:CC�D5�.5865@57<B.1B:03�3-�3461�*./?C5�:07�*./?C5�LM+N+�O:071?:<60>�E:35.6:C�:07�13.B?3B.51�14:CC�D5�<C:?57�60�1B?4�:�E:005.�1-�:1�3-�0-3�6035.25.5�@634�?.-11P8616D6C63A;�<BDC6?1:253A;�-.�345�1:25�E-85E503�-2�8546?C51�:07�<57513.6:01+Q+�N-E<C5/-0�-2�C:071?:<60>�14:CC�?-60?675�@634�345�?-E<C5/-0�-2�345�DB6C760>�-.�13.B?3B.5�B0C511�:�C:35.�7:35�61<5.E6G57�60�@.6/0>�DA�345�R-@0146<�:07�:�<5.2-.E:0?5�>B:.:0355�61�<.-86757;�<B.1B:03�3-�S5?/-0�LM+TTU+V+�*0A�:.5:1�34:3�D5?-E5�7613B.D57�2-.�:0A�.5:1-0�14:CC�D5�.513-.57�60�:??-.7:0?5�@634�345�-.6>60:C�C:071?:<5�<C:0�B0C511:<<.-857�-345.@615�60�@.6/0>�DA�345�R-@0146<+W+�N-.05.�O-31�P�W-.�345�<B.<-15�2-.�3461�*./?C5�:�?-.05.�C-3�61�?-01675.57�:1�4:860>�3@-�2.-03�A:.71�:07�:<<.-<.6:35C:071?:<60>�14:CC�D5�<.-86757�2-.�5:?4+XYZ[\�]̂_̀àb̀cadefgghijklg�P�O:071?:<57�:.5:�:.-B07�345�<5.6E535.�-2�:�<:.?5C;�C-3;�-.�1635+efmnho�pmqgf�P�,C:03�E:35.6:C�34:3�0-.E:CCA�.5:?451�:�E:I6EBE�456>43�-2�0-3�E-.5�34:0�Tr�60?451+bfgg�s�pkhmjt�P�R:CC�@--7A�<C:03�-2�:�1<5?651�34:3�0-.E:CCA�>.-@1�3-�:0�-85.:CC�456>43�-2�:3�C5:13�uU�2553;�B1B:CCA�@634�-05E:60�3.B0=�:07�E:0A�D.:0?451+bfgg�s�vhogfiwmft�P�@--7A�<C:03�-2�:�1<5?651�34:3�0-.E:CCA�>.-@1�3-�:0�-85.:CC�456>43�-2�:3�C5:13�xu�2553;�B1B:CCA�@634�-05E:60�3.B0=�:07�E:0A�D.:0?451+�y:A�D5�-2�:0�-.0:E503:C�0:3B.5+bfgg�s�̂qgfzfggh�P�@--7A�<C:03�-2�:�1<5?651�@634�2-C6:>5�34:3�.5E:601�>.550�A5:.P.-B07;�B1B:CCA�@634�-05�E:60�3.B0=�:07E:0A�D.:0?451+�{-.E:CCA�>.-@1�3-�:�456>43�-2�:3�C5:13�xu�2553+d|fn}�s�]gl~onmni�P�*�@--7A�<C:03�@634�1585.:C�135E1;�1E:CC5.�34:0�:�3.55;�34:3�14571�631�2-C6:>5�:3�345�507�-2�345�>.-@60>15:1-0+�y:3B.5�456>43�.:0>51�2.-E�34.55�3-�T��2553+d|fn}�s�̂qgfzfggh�P�*�@--7A�<C:03�@634�1585.:C�135E1;�1E:CC5.�34:0�:�3.55;�@634�2-C6:>5�34:3�.5E:601�>.550�A5:.P.-B07+y:3B.5�456>43�.:0>51�2.-E�34.55�3-�T��2553+d|fn}�s��m��zfm�~hz�P�*�@--7A�<C:03�@634�1585.:C�135E1;�1-E5/E51�.525..57�3-�:1�7@:.2;�B1B:CCA�585.>.550+�y:3B.5456>43�.:0>51�2.-E�T��3-�34.55�2553+�~g�i|go+�R45�0:3B.:C�5086.-0E503�34:3�61�8616DC5�2.-E�-05�-.�E-.5�865@60>�<-6031+XYZX\�e�̂ âd��p̂���̂�d*+�R:DC5�u�P*�6076?:351�345��.5501<:?5�RA<5�.5�B6.57�-0�<.-<5./51�D:157�B<-0�H-060>�-.�.-:7�?C:116�?:/-0+�R45�C5G5.7516>0:/-01�6076?:357�60�R:DC5�u�P*�.525.�3-�345�.5�B6.5E5031�:07�13:07:.71�13:357�60�R:DC5�u�PF+bk}�g�XYs��efgghijklg�btjg�o�klghw��mh~hz�mf��mko�mh~hz�m�dn}�glw�d~wg� �e���s��s� �sY �s[ �sX �sp �pp ps� ��� s̀� s̀� s̀�̀sY �c�Y�[ �fwgf~k��pm��glwmf�mf�mlk�� �~z|�kt �f~qkwgdwfggwk̂ig�ghwN N * * N * F F F F F V N�N� F ��s[ W W Q Q W * * F F F F W N�N� F ��sX W W Q Q W * * F F F F W N�N� F ��sp W W Q Q W * * F F F F W N�N� F ��e�������s���s����sYY



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ ��)

*+,-.�/012�34..567+8.�*97.2:;+8.5<�=>5?5@�>4�A>+:=>5?5@�>BCD,;.8<�C?<.E 23AAA1EA1F A10 A1G A1/ A1H IHH H1A JAK L1A L1E L1FL10 MN=0OG 24<.4?+-OH>--.8<>4�>4P>8+-F M?@QR+9 K4?S+<.C<4..<T+6.U.5<H V V V V V W W X X X X V XYXZ X [H1A V V V V V W W X X X X V XYXZ X [JAK V V V V V \ \ W W X X V XYXZ X [L1A V V V V V \ \ W W X X V XYXZ X [L1E V V V V V \ \ X X W X V XYXZ X [L1FO�L10 ] ] ] ] ] \ \ X X X W ] XYXZ X [_̂̀ab�cadae�̀_�Wefgha�ij�d_e�ke_kaefal�mn�̀oa�pXq�pmhhrsa�X_ttaegmrh�uml̀emg̀viv�]eaanlkrga�̀wka�d_e�xkagmrh�ylal�trw�za�mngearla{�zw�̀oa�|hrnnmns�X_ttmllm_n�zrla{�}k_n�ea~ma��_d�̀oa�gem̀aemr�_d�Wefgha���v�v�XZ�rkkhmal��oan�̀oa�ea�}mea{�n_n�t_̀_em�a{�drgmhm̀w�rn{Y_e�}fhmfal�rea�rgg_tt_{r̀a{�krefrhhw�_e�anfeahw�mn�̀oa�seaanlkrgarear�{}a�̀_�mnr{a�}r̀a�lkrga��m̀omn�̀oa�k}zhmg�l̀eaà�emsò�_d��rwv�v�Xem̀aemr�rkkhw�̀_�kaetm�a{�}lal�_̀oae�̀orn�lmnsha��_e�̀�_�drtmhw�{�ahhmnsl�_e�}lal�rggall_ew�̀oaeà_v�v�]eaanlkrga��m{̀o�lorhh�za�rkkhma{�de_t�̀oa�nareal̀�z_}n{rew�_d�rn�[��v��n�̀oa�a~aǹ�̀or̀�̀oa�z_}n{rew�_d�̀oa�[���ml�����daàlo_è�_d�r�ke_kaèw�hmnaq�����daà�lorhh�za�l}z̀erg̀a{�de_t�̀oa�kealgemza{�seaanlkrga��m{̀o�_d�̀oa�{a~ah_kmns�ke_kaèwv��oaea�rhallae�seaanlkrga��m{̀o�ml�kaetm�a{q�̀oa�n}tzae�_d�ea�}mea{�khrnfnsl�lorhh�za�ea{}ga{�zrla{�_n�̀oa�erf_�_d�kaetm�a{��m{̀o_~ae�kealgemza{��m{̀ov�V_e�a�rtkhaq�md�rn�[���an{l�̀an�daà�lo_è�_d�r�ke_kaèw�hmnaq�r�kealgemza{����d__̀��m{̀o��_}h{�zag_ta���daàq�rn{�����_d�̀oa�kealgemza{�khrnfnsl��_}h{�za�ea�}mea{v��oaea�_̀oae�ke_~mlm_nl�_d�̀oa��_nmns��e{mnrnga�ea�}mea�rt_ea�mǹanla�seaanlkrgaq�̀o_la�ke_~mlm_nl�lorhh�rkkhwv�v��oa�d_hh_�mns�̀rzha���rzha�������mn{mgr̀al�seaanlkrga�ea�}meataǹl�l̀r̀a{�mn�̀aetl�_d��m{̀o�_d�̀oa�seaanlkrga�rltarl}ea{�de_t�̀oa�ke_kaèw�hmna�_e�emsò�_d��rw�hmnaq��omgoa~ae�ml�rkkhmgrzhaq�rn{�̀oa�n}tzae�rn{�̀wka�_d�khrǹ�}nm̀lea�}mea{�kae�i���hmnare�daà�_d�seaanlkrgav��oa�gh}l̀aemns�_d�khrǹ�tr̀aemrh��m̀omn�r�seaanlkrga�ml�ang_}ersa{v*+,-.�/01J�?:<Q�>B�34..567+8.�+5:��D+5�<9�>B�K-+5<��+<.4?+-�7.4�E���P?5.+4��..<34..567+8.�*97. 2 J H H� � T � 3 M�?5?UDU�R?:<Q�>B�@4..567+8.��� ¡ i� i� �� �� �� �� �� �� i�H+5>79�<4.. i � � � � � � � i¢5:.46<>49�<4.. � � � � � � � � �CQ4D,6 � � � � j i� i£ �� �TS.4@4..5¤�H>5?B.4�<4.. � � � � � � � i� �Xv��aetl���¥rn{lgrka{�}n{}hrfns�arèoan�zaetl�n_̀�a�gaa{mns�lm��daà�mn�oamsòq�rl�tarl}ea{�de_t�̀oa�ser{a�_d�̀oarz}¦ns�kr~a{�rearq�am̀oae�a�mlfns�_e�ke_k_la{q�_d�̀oa�l}z§ag̀�lm̀aq�rn{��bi�lh_ka�trw�za�kaetm�a{��m̀omn�r�ea�}mea{seaanlkrgav�Xea{m̀�_d�}k�̀_����kaegaǹ�trw�za�eagam~a{�rsrmnl̀�̀oa�ea�}mea{�khrnfnsl�mn�r�seaanlkrga�zw�̀oa�}la�_dzaetl�̀oeaa�daà�mn�oamsò�_e�sear̀ae�mn�lrm{�seaanlkrgavuv�̂_�_̈�l̀eaà�kre©mnsq�l̀_ersaq�_}̀{__e�g_ttaegmrh�se_}n{�rgf~mfalq�_e�l̀e}g̀}eal�lorhh�za�kaetm�a{�mn�seaanlkrgarearlv/0 ª��C¢J�LILCLN«C�¤�CL*T�HN«�N�L«L¢�CWv�x̀eaà�̀eaal�rh_ns�mǹaenrh�e_r{�rwlv�\rgo�h_̀�_e�z}mh{mns�lm̀a��m̀omn�r�l}z{m~mlm_n�_e�lm̀a�g_n{_tmnm}t�lorhh�zaea�}mea{�̀_�or~a�r̀�harl̀�_na�grn_kw�̀eaa�d_e�a~aew����daà�_d�e_r{�de_ǹrsa�_e�k_ef_n�̀oaea_dv��oa�khrnfns�_dr{{mf_nrh�grn_kw�̀eaal�rh_ns�l̀eaàl�ml�ang_}ersa{v��eaal�lorhh�za�khrǹa{�nare�̀oa�l̀eaà�z}̀�_}̀lm{a�_d�̀oa�emsò�_d��rw�_d�rhh�mǹaenrh�e_r{�rwlv�ca�}mea{�l̀eaà�̀eaal�lorhh�za�khrǹa{��oan�̀oa�h_̀�_e�z}mh{mns�lm̀a�ml�{a~ah_ka{q�kem_e�̀_mll}rnga�_d�r�Xaef¬gr̀a�_d��gg}krngwv



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ )�*

+,�-.//01234/�35607�/89/.035�.63:;3<1,�=0�6.:/.�96�2./1/.>/�>?/;1@/:1�60�A6;01@?2�.63:1B�A<2/�CDC�7.//01234/�30:25309�E39/.?351�1@355�F/�./GH?./:�35607�355�/89/.035�.63:;3<1,�I//�I/4J60�KL,KM�N6.�;?:9@�30:�2530J07�./GH?./E/091�?0A<2/�CDC�7.//01234/,D,�O8?1J07�9.//1�30:�>/7/93J60,�A6�9@/�/89/09�N/31?F5/B�/8?1J07�9.//1�30:�>/7/93J60�1@355�F/�5/P�H0:?19H.F/:�9@.6H7@�9@/46H.1/�6N�:/>/562E/09,�O8?1J07�43062<�9.//1�E3<�F/�4./:?9/:�96;3.:�13J1N<?07�9.//�2530J07�./GH?./E/091,�I//I/4J60�KL,QMM�N6.�7H?:/5?0/1�60�4./:?91�N6.�/8?1J07�9.//1,�O8?1J07�9.//1�E3<�F/�H1/:�96�13J1N<�9@/�19.//9�9.//./GH?./E/09�?N�56439/:�0/3.�9@/�.?7@9R6NR;3<,�O8?1J07�>/7/93J60�E3<�F/�H1/:�96�13J1N<�9@/�9.//�30:�1@.HF�./GH?./E/09?N�56439/:�;?9@?0�3�./GH?./:�7.//01234/�3./3,S,�T/2534/E/09,�T/GH?./:�9.//1�30:�2530J071�1@355�F/�E3?093?0/:�96�/01H./�9@/?.�1H.>?>35,�U9�9@/�:?14./J60�6N�9@/V5300?07�D6EE?11?60B�3�2/.N6.E304/�7H3.309//�E3<�F/�./GH?./:�96�/01H./�9@39�2.6261/:�530:1432?07�?1�E3?093?0/:N6.�3�2/.?6:�6N�39�5/319�QW�E609@1�2/.�I/4J60�KL,XM,Y,�IH4@�7H3.309//�E3<�93Z/�9@/�N6.E�6N�30�?../>643F5/�5/[/.�6N4./:?9B�431@�/14.6;B�6.�2/.N6.E304/�F60:,\]̂_̀�abcdefg�bchb�ibfjklbaefgm30:1432?07�1@355�F/�:/1?70/:�30:�1?9H39/:�96�:/n0/�13N/�344/11�30:�4?.4H53J60�;3<1B�2.6>?:/�1@3:/�30:�>?1H35�./5?/NB�30::?E?0?1@�9@/�1435/�6N�53.7/�5691,U,�V/.?E/9/.,�A@/�>?1H35�?E2349�6N�23.Z?07�5691�1@355�F/�E?0?E?o/:�9@.6H7@�9@/�H1/�6N�530:1432?07B�F/.E1B�;3551B�30:p6.:/46.3J>/�N/04/1�?0�1H4@�3�E300/.�31�96�?09/..H29�6.�14.//0�9@/�3./31�N.6E�>?/;,+,�=09/.?6.,�m30:1432/�N/39H./1�?045H:?07�/0:�?1530:1B�2/0?01H531B�30:�19.?21�1@355�F/�?019355/:�?0�9@/�?09/.?6.�6N�23.Z?07�569196�:/5?0/39/�60R1?9/�4?.4H53J60B�/01H./�3:/GH39/�1?7@9�:?19304/�39�9@/�?09/.1/4J60�6N�3?15/1�30:�?09/.?6.�.63:;3<1B�30:96�2./>/09�:?376035�>/@?4H53.�E6>/E/09�9@.6H7@�23.Z?07�5691,�q/39H./1�1@355�F/�:/1?70/:�;?9@�1Hr4?/09�.3:??�96�/01H./:.?>/.1�3./�3F5/�96�E3Z/�XM�:/7.//�.?7@9�9H.01�;?9@6H9�/04.634@?07�H260�530:1432?07�6.�3:s34/09�9.3r4�530/1,Q,�U./3�T/GH?./E/091�F31/:�60�9@/�0HEF/.�6N�23.Z?07�1234/1�3./�?0:?439/:�?0�A3F5/�KLRD,tuvwx�\]ylez{x|}~|�iuz���u�}z��b|xu�cx��}|x�xz{���~|�au|�}z��i~{�3, V3.Z?07�5691�46093?0?07�H2�96�KM�23.Z?07�1234/1 QK�1GH3./�N//9�6N�530:�3./3�2/.�1234/F, V3.Z?07�5691�46093?0?07�F/9;//0�KQ�30:�XX�23.Z?07�1234/1 �K�1GH3./�N//9�6N�530:�3./3�2/.�1234/4, V3.Z?07�5691�46093?0?07�QMM�6.�E6./�23.Z?07�1234/1 LM�1GH3./�N//9�6N�530:�3./3�2/.�1234/�,��?0?EHE�1?o/,�A@/�E?0?EHE�1?o/�6N�30<�?09/.035�530:1432/:�3./3�1@355�F/��MM�1GH3./�N//9B�;?9@�3�E?0?EHE�;?:9@6N�9/0�N//9,L,�V.69/4J60�6N�m30:1432?07,�=09/.?6.�530:1432/�3./31�1@355�F/�2.69/49/:�F<�9@/�?0193553J60�6N�3�.3?1/:�4604./9/�6.312@359�4H.FB�304@6./:�530:1432/�JEF/.1�3.6H0:�9@/�F6.:/.B�FHE2/.�F564Z1B�69@/.�1H?93F5/�E/301,�U�E?0?EHE:?19304/�6N�9@.//�N//9�1@355�F/�/193F5?1@/:�F/9;//0�2.6261/:�9.//�30:�1@.HF�2530J071�30:�9@/�F34Z1?:/�6N�9@/�4H.F6.�JEF/.1�96�N34?5?939/�106;�196.37/�;@?5/�2.69/4J07�9@/�2530J071,�,�T/GH?./:�V530J071,�A@/�0HEF/.�30:�9<2/�6N�2530J071�1@355�F/�:/9/.E?0/:�39�3�.39/�6N�60/�:/4?:H6H1�43062<�9.//30:�9;6�56;�7.6;?07�1@.HF1�2/.��MM�1GH3./�N//9�6N�?09/.?6.�530:1432/�3./3,\]̂�̀��t�hc�keth�ibfjklbaefg�ch��ech�hftkU,�m63:?07�U./31m63:?07�3./31�1@355�F/�530:1432/:�?0�1H4@�3�E300/.�31�96�14.//0�9@/�3./3�N.6E�>?/;�6N�3:s34/09�2.62/.9<B�2HF5?4�.?7@9R6NR;3<�6.�2.?>39/�344/11�/31/E/09,�V53091B�F/.E1B�;3551B�30:p6.�165?:�:/46.3J>/�N/04?07�E3<�F/�H1/:,��@/0�563:?073./31�3./�3:s34/09�96�./1?:/0J355<�o60/:�530:B�9@/�14.//0?07�EH19�F/�3�E?0?EHE�6N�1?8�N//9�@?7@�39�?0193553J60,+,�I@622?07�D3.9�I96.37/U0<�3./3�H1/:�N6.�1@622?07�43.9�46093?0E/09�31�E3<�F/�2.6>?:/:�3:s34/09�96�9@/�FH?5:?07�1@355�F/�14.//0/:�F<�3E?0?EHE�N6H.RN669R@?7@�E3160.<�;355�46E23JF5/�;?9@�9@/�FH?5:?07�/89/.?6.�N343:/�30:�3.4@?9/49H./,D,�THFF?1@�S?126135�30:�T/4<453F5/�q34?5?J/1



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ )�*

+,--./0�1./23/45�647.5.89/�.:75,1.:;�1,<2/=9>/�4:1�3=09>�73<<9>7.45�73:=4.:9>/�63>�?4/=9�4:1�>97@754-59�<4=9>.45�/0455-9�/.=,4=91�3:�4�04>1�/,>6479�4:1�9:753/91�-@�4�/35.1�?455�3>�/35.1�69:79�:3�59//�=04:�/.A�BCD�699=�.:�09.;0=�3:�=0>99/.19/E�F:�411.83:G�.6�=09�6>3:=�36�=09�1./23/45�647.5.=@�./�H./.-59�6>3<�4:�41I479:=�2>329>=@G�2,-5.7�>.;0=J36J?4@�3>�2>.H4=94779//�94/9<9:=G�/.A�BCD�633=�0.;0�<9=45�H.9?�3-/=>,78:;�133>/�/0455�-9�.:/=45591E�K:753/,>9�/=>,7=,>9/�4:1�;4=9/�/0455-9�<4.:=4.:91�.:�;331�>924.>�4=�455�8<9/E�L09�,/9�36�704.:J5.:M�69:7.:;�?.=0�3>�?.=03,=�.:=9>?3H9:�/54=/�./�:3=29><.N91E�+97@754-59�<4=9>.45/G�/,70�4/�24559=/�4:1�-459/G�/0455�-9�/.=,4=91�4:1�9:753/91�4/�19/7>.-91�4-3H9EOE�P=3><�Q4=9>�+9=9:83:�R>94/R:@�69:791�4>94/�=04=�4>9�H./.-59�6>3<�4:�41I479:=�2>329>=@G�2,-5.7�>.;0=J36J?4@�3>�2>.H4=9�4779//�94/9<9:=�/0455�-954:1/74291�=3�/7>99:�=09<�6>3<�H.9?EP=3><�?4=9>�<4:4;9<9:=�,85.S.:;�=09�19/.;:�7>.=9>.4�/=4=91�.:�P9783:�TCEUVEWG�./�9:73,>4;91E�W>91.=�36�,2�=3�XV29>79:=�<4@�-9�>979.H91�4;4.:/=�=09�>9Y,.>91�254:=�<4=9>.45�.:�4�;>99:/2479�?09:�=09�19/.;:�7>.=9>.4�/=4=91�.:�P9783:TCEUVEW�./�,/91�63>�/=3><�?4=9>�<4:4;9<9:=�?.=0.:�/4.1�;>99:/2479EZ[\]̂�_ àbcd̀e�cbfgdcb_bhai�̀hj�_ d̀habh̀ hkbRE�l48H9�m54:=/E�l48H9�254:=/�4>9�?955�4142=91�=3�53745�73:1.83:/G�=09>963>9�>9Y,.>.:;�5.N59�<4.:=9:4:79�3:799/=4-5./091E�L09@�95.<.:4=9�3>�/.;:.n74:=5@�>91,79�=09�:991�63>�69>85.S9>/�4:1�?4=9>E�L09@�45/3�3o9:�4N>47=�-9:9n7.45.:/97=/G�?0.70�2>9@�3:�29/=/G�197>94/.:;�=09�:991�63>�29/87.19/E�l48H9�254:=/�4>9�59//�9A29:/.H9�=3�<4.:=4.:G�=09@2>3<3=9�-.31.H9>/.=@G�4:1�<4.:=4.:�3,>�:4=,>45�09>.=4;9�4:1�3,>�73<<,:.=@p/�704>47=9>E�R=�594/=�qT�29>79:=�36�>9Y,.>9174:32@�=>99/�/0455�-9�:48H9�=3�53?9>�r.70.;4:E�R=�594/=�sV�29>79:=�36�455�3=09>�>9Y,.>91�54:1/7429�<4=9>.45�?.=0.:�9470m54:=�r4=9>.45�L@29�/0455�-9�:48H9�=3�53?9>�r.70.;4:E�t3>�4�5./8:;�36�/297.9/�:48H9�=3�53?9>�r.70.;4:G�/99�rFWuFvRltwx+R�xlwFlK�4=�???E<.70.;4:y3>4E:9=EzE�u4>1@�m54:=�r4=9>.45/E�R55�54:1/742.:;�<4=9>.45�/0455�-9�04>1@�=3�=09�4>94�4:1�422>32>.4=9�=3�=09�/.=,483:�.:�?0.70�.=�./2>323/91G�6>99�36�1./94/9�4:1�.:/97=/G�4:1�73:63><�=3�=09�R<9>.74:�P=4:14>1�63>�l,>/9>@�P=37M�36�=09�R<9>.74:R//37.483:�36�l,>/9>@<9:EWE�r.:.<,<�m54:=�P.S9E�m54:=�<4=9>.45/�/0455�<99=�=09�<.:.<,<�254:=�/.S9�>9Y,.>9<9:=/�73:=4.:91�.:�L4-59�TsJOE�u9.;0=36�4�254:=�./�<94/,>91�6>3<�=09�=32�36�=09�>33=�-455�3>�=32�36�=09�73:=4.:9>�/3.5�=3�=09�=32�36�=09�59419>G�=09�2>.<4>@/=9<�36�=09�254:=E a{|}~�Z[�j�_�������i��~�}{���_{�~��{}�a��~ i��~W4:32@�L>99�J�P.:;59�P=9< U��745.29>�W4:32@�L>99�J�r,58J/=9<�J�W5,<2 XV�699=�B09.;0=D�:19>/=3>@�L>99 �p�=3�XVp�B09.;0=DKH9>;>99:�L>99 T�699=�B09.;0=DP0>,-�J�O97.1,3,/ U��.:709/�B09.;0=DP0>,-�J�KH9>;>99: X��.:709/�B09.;0=DP0>,-�J�w3?�;>3?.:; UJ;4553:�23=�U��745.29>�4/�<94/,>91�.:�73:63><4:79�?.=0�=09�R<9>.74:�P=4:14>1�63>�l,>/9>@�P=37MOE�r3:37,5=,>9E�L09�,/9�36�4�/.:;59�/297.9/�./�2>30.-.=91�=3�.:7>94/9�=09�>4=9�36�254:=�/,>H.H45E�KA792=�63>�254:8:;/�,/9163>�9H9>;>99:�/7>99:.:;G�:3�3:9�/297.9/�36�=>99�3>�/0>,-�<4@�<4M9�,2�<3>9�=04:�TV��36�=09�=3=45�4<3,:=�?.=0.:�9470m54:=�r4=9>.45�L@29EKE�l3=�m9><.N91EXE�P297.9/�:3=�29><.N91�4/�>9Y,.>91�/=>99=�=>99�254:8:;/�4:1�=04=�/03,51�-9�,/91�?.=0�74,83:�?09:�254791�.:2>3A.<.=@�=3�4:@�9A./8:;�3>�2>323/91�-,.51.:;G�/=>,7=,>9G�?45M?4@G�3>�24>M.:;�4>94�4>9�5./=91�-953?E�L09/9�/297.9/<4@�-9�422>32>.4=9�.:�-,�9>�4>94/�3>�63>�54:1/7429�>9/=3>483:Ei�~��~��̀�������{�~��������~��̀�~{�����e{����{�~�c~����{������{���{}�h{�~ k������h{�~���������� ¡ z3A�K519>



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ $�)

*+,-.,/�0++12+1.34,�521�678,1�01,3/�21�93:;/-3+,�<,/4213=2:6243:.-3>�?3@, A2@@2:�?3@,BCDE�FGCCHGEIJKL MNOPQR�STUOQBDFCKVKF�HIWWXCGFYGJKL Z[R\Q�]̂Q\_̀a_BIVGJYHKF�GVbFFILG cRQQ�[d�ZQTPQ̀eGYGVWG�FWDCIXFG ]T_TOUTfIJghX�iIVXiG�jkDLGVDl mQnTOQ�oǸpq[rXWKVKF�FWWs t[UOTR\u�][v[̀w[[xu�y\UQ̀zI{KI|GLiGE�FY}EGCI~KG MwQQ_�oan�GVI��FWWs �NOO[w\�VLKF�FWWs �On\���ỳ��\UQ�NQ\�p̀[ẁ�_[�̂TPQ�\_Ra�_aRTO�wQTp̀Q\\�[R�Q��Q\\NPQ��QTRǸq�[d�dRaN_�[R�̀a_\�\̂[aOx�̀[_��Q�a\Qx�Ǹ�TRQT\�[dPQ̂N�aOTR�[R�UQxQ\_RNT̀�_RT���m���̀PT\NPQ�\UQ�NQ\��c[�UR[_Q�_�\UQ�NQ\�ǸxNqQ̀[a\�_[�_̂Q�c[ẁ \̂NUu�_̂Q�a\Q�[d�ǸPT\NPQ�\UQ�NQ\�ŵN�̂�̀T_aRTON�Q�N\�̀[_UQRnNvQx��ĉ[\Q�ǸPT\NPQ�\UQ�NQ\�̀[_�UQRnNvQx�TRQ�ON\_Qx�[̀�_̂Q�SNxwQ\_��̀PT\NPQ�MUQ�NQ\��̀d[RnT�[̀��Q_w[Rp�T_v̂U���www�nN\Ǹ�n\a�Qxa��o��STǸ_Q̀T̀�Q���T̀x\�TUQ�TRQT\�\̂TOO��Q�nTǸ_TǸQx�Ǹ�T�̀QT_�T̀x�[RxQRO��nT̀ Q̀R�Ǹ�OaxǸq�n[wǸqu�dQR�ON�Ǹqu�URàǸquT̀x�NRRNqT�[̀�_[�UR[n[_Q�[U�nan��[̀xN�[̀�Z���QUOT�QnQ̀_���N_̂QRQx�T̀x�[R�xQTx�UOT̀_�nT_QRNTO\�\̂TOO��Q�RQUOT�Qx�wN_̂Ǹ�T�RQT\[̀T�OQ�UQRN[x�[d��nQ��a_�̀[�O[̀qQR_̂T̀�[̀Q�qR[wǸq�\QT\[̀�OT_QR����oR[aUǸq\��M̂Ra�\�\̂TOO��Q�qR[aUQx�wN_̂Ǹ�_̂Q�RQ�aNRQx�qRQQ̀\UT�Q�T̀x�UTRpǸq�O[_�OT̀x\�TUQ�TRQT\�ŵ Q̀�TUUR[URNT_Qd[R�TQ\_̂Q���PTOaQ�T̀x�QT\Q�[d�nTǸ_Q̀T̀�Q����oRQQ̀\UT�Q�wN_̂Ǹ�_̂Q�Ua�ON��RNq̂_�[d�wT��URNPT_Q�T��Q\\�QT\QnQ̀_\��ĉQ�OT̀x�TRQT�O�Ǹq��Q_wQQ̀�_̂Q�RQ�aNRQxqRQQ̀\UT�Q�Ǹ�_̂Q�dR[̀_��TRx�[d�UR[UQR�Q\�T̀x�_̂Q�QxqQ�[d�UTPQnQ̀_�[d�T�Ua�ON��[R�URNPT_Q�T��Q\\�QT\QnQ̀_�\̂TOO��QQ̀T_O��nTǸ_TǸQx�wN_̂�qRT\\�[R�qR[àx�[PQR���������<�*�<�0�� ?�A<�¡��*y��tRQ\QRPT�[̀�[d���N\�̀q�cRQQ\��]RQxN_�\̂TOO��Q�TwTRxQx�d[R�URQ\QRPǸq��T̀[U��_RQQ\��¢��URQ\QRPǸq��T̀[U��_RQQ\u�_RQQUOT̀�̀q�RQ�aNRQnQ̀_\��T̀��Q�\Nq̀N£�T̀_O��RQxa�Qx��ĉQ�̀an�QR�[d��RQxN_\�TwTRxQx�d[R�_RQQ�URQ\QRPT�[̀�\̂TOO��Q�ǸT��[RxT̀�Q�wN_̂�_̂Q�_T�OQ�URQ\Q̀_Qx��QO[w��cRQQ\�Ǹ_Q̀xQx�_[��Q�URQ\QRPQx�\̂TOO��Q�ǸxN�T_Qx�[̀�_̂Q�OT̀x\�TUQ�UOT̀T̀x�_�UQ�T̀x�\N�Q�\̂TOO��Q�̀[_Qx��cRQQ�UR[_Q��[̀�dQ̀�Ǹq�\̂TOO��Q�RQ�aNRQx�T��[RxǸq�_[�MQ��[̀�¤¥�¦�§��1,,�+1,/,1̈3=2:�-1,;.4/¡.3@,4,1�25��1,/,1̈,;��1,,© ?7@ª,1�25��1,,/�-1,;.4,;«PQR��¬�Ǹ�̂Q\ ¬¦��Ǹ�̂Q\�_[��¬�Ǹ�̂Q\ ¥­�Ǹ�̂Q\�_[�¦¦�®�Ǹ�̂Q\ ���Ǹ�̂Q\�_[�̄�®�Ǹ�̂Q\ ¦°±NTnQ_QR�nQT\aRQx�T_�¬²�T�[PQ�qR[àx�OQPQO¢��tRQ\QRPT�[̀�[d�Q�N\�̀q�̀T�PQ�PQqQ_T�[̀��]RQxN_�\̂TOO��Q�TwTRxQx�d[R�URQ\QRPǸq�Q�N\�̀q�PQqQ_T�[̀�̀T�PQ�_[�O[wQRSN�̂NqT̀u�Ǹ�OaxǸq�\̂Ra�\�T̀x�qRT\\OT̀x�\UQ�NQ\��¢��URQ\QRPǸq�Q�N\�̀q�̀T�PQ�PQqQ_T�[̀u�_RQQ�T̀x�\̂Ra��UOT̀�̀qRQ�aNRQnQ̀_\��T̀��Q�\Nq̀N£�T̀_O��RQxa�Qx��ĉQ�̀an�QR�[d��RQxN_\�TwTRxQx�\̂TOO��Q�xQ_QRnǸQx����c[ẁ \̂NU�UOT̀ Ǹ̀q\_T³��T\Qx�[̀�Q�N\�̀q�\UQ�NQ\�T̀x�_̂Q�Ǹ_Q̀xQx�dà��[̀�[d�_̂Q�RQ�aNRQx�_RQQ�T̀x�\̂Ra��UOT̀�̀q\���������?A�?����*�́ <�<�*� <�?µ��<�¶*���9�·�?����µ��0�� ?y��«\̂_Qn[�c[ẁ \̂NU²\�URQ�\QvOQnQ̀_�PQqQ_T�[̀�_�UQ\�wQRQ�URNnTRNO��«Tp�MTPT̀ T̀u�«Tp�m[RQ\_u�T̀x�¢QQ�̂�MaqTR�STUOQm[RQ\_u�wN_̂�\nTOOQR�TRQT\�[d�tRTNRNQu�STR\̂u�¢aR�«Tp�«UQ̀Ǹqu�T̀x�M[a_̂QR̀�MwTnU�m[RQ\_��y�nTU�[d�URQ�\QvOQnQ̀_



�������� ����	
��	�
������
���
��
����
	
�����	
�
������������
���	����

�

	
���
�����
���������������������	����� 	��������!"���	�#���$%&�'�����#
�
�����	
�(���	�����$ )�)

*+,+-./01�230451,�-3+�,+0,6.7358�908./01�0:�-3+2+�*+,+-./01�-;7+2�52�01�<9+�51�-3+�=0412357�0>8+?�@-�5189AB+2�.B+28657/01�0:�-3+�76+B0C51.1-�79.1-�27+85+2�:06�+.83�*+,+-./01�-;7+?�=352�51:06C./01�52�.920�.*.59.D9+�01951+�.-4C583?+BAE79.1151,EF+DG5-+2EH+0,I.7EJ.9K0A1-;L+,+-./01I.7M1/6+?3-C?N?�=0�+180A6.,+�6+2-06./01�0:�76+O2+P9+C+1-�*+,+-./01Q�.99�A2+2�2ADR+8-�-0�G5-+�S9.1�6+*5+4�C.;�07-�-0�2ADC5-�.9.1B28.7+�6+2-06./01�79.1�51�95+A�0:�.�9.1B28.7+�79.1?�T�9.1B28.7+�6+2-06./01�79.1�23.99�A2+�1./*+�*+,+-./01�-;7+2�-0C++-�-3+�51-+1-�0:�286++151,�.1B�DAU+651,�6+VA56+C+1-2�4359+�.-�-3+�2.C+�/C+�2-65*+�-0�6+2-06+�-3+�76+O2+P9+C+1-*+,+-./01�0:�-3+�5CC+B5.-+.6+.?�M*+1�-30A,3�-3+�+W.8-�1ACD+6�0:�+.83�9.1B28.7+�+9+C+1-�C.;�10-�D+�760*5B+BQ.7760*.9�0:�2A83�.�79.1�23.99�D+�,6.1-+B�20�901,�.2�-3+�0*+6.99�51-+1-�52�2./2<+B?�S6506�.7760*.9�0:�-3+�9.1B28.7+6+2-06./01�79.1�D;�=0412357�S9.1151,�2-.U�52�6+VA56+B?XYZ[\]�̂_̀ �̀a_b̂ c̀̂dbe�fg_deh�cbeî_gĉdbeT?�N+:06+�B+*+907C+1-Q�-3+�B+*+907+6�06�DA59B+6�23.99�+6+8-�-6++�760-+8/01�:+1851,�-3.-�4599�235+9B�.1B�760-+8-�.99�-6++2B+25,1.-+B�-0�D+�76+2+6*+B?�j+1851,�230A9B�D+�79.8+B�10�8902+6�-3.1�-+1�:++-�:60C�-3+�-6A1k�0:�.�-6++�06�<*+�:++-D+;01B�-3+�B657�951+�0:�.�-6++�06�,60A7�0:�-6++2Q�43583+*+6�52�,6+.-+6?N?�j+1851,�23.99�D+�.�C515CAC�0:�lm�5183+2�35,3?K?�=6++�760-+8/01�:+1851,�23.99�D+�C.51-.51+B�BA651,�8012-6A8/01�.1B�.99�8012-6A8/01�C.-+65.92Q�2A7795+2Q�.1B+VA57C+1-�23.99�D+�k+7-�0A-�0:�-3+�760-+8-+B�.6+.2?n?�o08./01�0:�-6++�760-+8/01�:+1851,�CA2-�D+�23041�01�-3+�.7760*+B�9.1B28.7+�79.1?XYZ[Y]�a_bpdidbei�qb_�̀rdîdeh�id̂̀iT?�S+65C+-+6�.1B�7.6k51,�.6+.�9.1B28.7+�6+VA56+C+1-2�23.99�.779;�-0�.99�+W7.125012Q�6+10*./012Q�06�.9-+6./012�-3.-5186+.2+�-3+�,6022�s006�.6+.?�M.83�5186+.2+�51�,6022�s006�.6+.�0:�01+�7+68+1-�23.99�6+VA56+�-3+�512-.99./01�0:�.C515CAC�0:�<*+�7+68+1-�0:�-3+�9.1B28.751,�:06�-3+�-0-.9�25-+?N?�o.1B28.7+�6+VA56+C+1-2�:06�S.6k51,�T6+.2Q�G+8/01�tu?vw�23.99�.779;�43+1�+W7.125012�5186+.2+�-3+�1ACD+6�0:�7.6k51,27.8+2�D;�xw�7+68+1-�06�.-�9+.2-�-+1�7.6k51,�27.8+2?K?�F3+1�7.6k51,�90-2�10-�51�801:06C.18+�45-3�T6/89+�tu�.6+�C599+B�.1B�6+2A6:.8+B�9.1B28.751,�51�.8806B.18+�45-3�G+8/01tu?vw�52�+180A6.,+B?XYZ[y]�̀rc̀âdbeiT?�z{{|}~����a���}���_���|��������O�j06�6+.201�0:�801s58/1,�A2+2Q�A1:.*06.D9+�-070,6.73;Q�06�0-3+6�A15VA+�06+W-+1A./1,�73;258.9�8568AC2-.18+2Q�-3+�6+*5+451,�D0B;�C.;�5186+.2+�6+VA56+B�9.1B28.7+�79.1/1,2�51�.1;�6+VA56+B,6++127.8+�5:�51�5-2�B+-+6C51./01�.1�5186+.2+�52�:0A1B�1+8+22.6;�-0�6+.201.D9;�.835+*+�-3+�27565-Q�7A6702+�.1B�51-+1-�0:-352�T6/89+?N?�_�{��}~�����{�i���}��}~���~��a���}����O�@:�.�73;258.9�3.6B2357�+W52-2�06�+W52/1,�-070,6.73;�.1B�*+,+-./01�.6+B+-+6C51+B�D;�-3+�6+*5+451,�D0B;�-0�760*5B+�+VA.9�06�D+P+6�9.1B28.7+�.1B�DAU+651,�+U+8-Q�-3+�6+*5+451,�D0B;�C.;.7760*+�C0B5<8./012�019;�-0�-3+�79.1/1,�6+VA56+C+1-2�0:�G+8/01�tu?tw?�=3+�6+*5+451,�D0B;�C.;�6+VA56+�2A83.9-+61.-+�79.1/1,2�.1B�*52A.9�286++12�.2�3+B,+2Q�:+18+2Q�4.992Q�.1BE06�80CD51./01�-3+6+0:�43583�5-�B++C2�1+8+22.6;-0�+12A6+�80C795.18+�45-3�-3+�27565-Q�7A6702+�.1B�51-+1-�0:�-352�T6/89+?



 
 

1 
 

ARTICLE 53: LANDSCAPING AND SCREENING 
53.10 Intent  

 
The intent of this Article is to promote the public health, safety, and welfare and improve the 
visual appearance of the Township by requiring landscaping for each development for which site 
plan review is required. It is further the intent of this Article to achieve the following: 

 
• Increase compatibility between uses and provide buffering between dissimilar land uses.  
• Improve the overall aesthetics and appearance of public rights-of way. 
• Improve air quality and provide shade. 
• Decrease wind velocity, reduce soil erosion and increase surface water retention. 
• Reduce glare from buildings, cars, night lighting, and other sources. 
• Screen unattractive features. 
• Reduce noise. 
• Define safe access and circulation. 
• Enhance or focus attention toward a feature (building, entrance, sign, etc.) 
• Provide visual relief from monotonous features such as building walls, large parking lots and 

streets.  
• Add natural color and texture and provide habitat for wildlife. 
• Enhance and maintain the natural character and appearance of the community. 

 
53.20 Application of Requirements 
 

These requirements shall apply to all uses subject to site plan review as defined in Article 64 of 
this ordinance.  No site plan shall be approved unless a landscape plan is provided which meets 
the requirements set forth herein. 

 
53.30 General Provisions  

 
A. Minimum Requirements - The requirements in this Article are minimum requirements and 

shall not preclude the developer and the Township from mutually agreeing to additional 
landscaping.  
 

B. Landscape plan preparation – Landscape plans are required for all developments requiring 
site plan approval.  However, site plans that meet one or more of the following must submit 
a Landscape Plan that is sealed by a landscape architect: 

 
1. 70 or more parking spaces 
2. Screening between land uses  
3. Request tree preservation credits  
4. Request credits for preserving native vegetation 
5. Request to submit an alternative landscape plan to restore pre-settlement vegetation 

 
C. Site coverage – Developed portions of the site not devoted to building floor area, parking, 

access ways or pedestrian use shall be appropriately landscaped with live plant material and 
maintained in a neat and orderly manner. Developed portions of the site shall mean the 
physical extension and/or construction of any man-made change or alteration to an improved 
or unimproved property.  



 
 

2 
 

 
D. Visibility - Landscaping material and structures shall be placed in such a manner to not 

interfere with cross-visibility, public safety, or the safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians. 
A triangular clear view zone area shall be established at the intersections of street rights-of-
way and internal circulation drives intended for continued movement within a site and 
between properties. The clear zone shall be 25 linear feet for street rights-of-way and 15 
linear feet for internal circulation drives drawn along each right-of-way from their point of 
intersection, creating a triangular clear corner. No plant materials above a height of two feet, 
at maturity, from the established street grades shall be permitted within the clear view zone 
area.  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E. Land clearing - Land clearing shall be limited to that needed for the construction of buildings, 
structures, parking lots, street right(s)-of-way, drainage and utility areas, other site 
improvements, and any grading necessary to accommodate such construction.  No grading or 
removal of the following trees shall be permitted in the area of the parcel, lot or building site 
not developed: 

 
1. Trees that are native to Michigan with a diameter of 2-inches or greater at 4-feet in height. 
 
2. Trees that are not native to Michigan with a diameter of 8-inches or greater at 4-feet in 

height. 
 

F. Public right-of-way/private easement greenspace – the land area lying between the paved 
portion of a public right-of-way/private easement and the property line shall be neatly 
maintained with grass or groundcover. 
 

G. Maintenance – installation, maintenance, and completion 
 

1. All landscaping required by this Article shall be planted before obtaining a certificate of 
occupancy or the appropriate financial guarantee such as cash placed in an escrow 
account, letter of credit, and/or performance bond in the amount of the cost of 
landscaping to be released only after landscaping is completed. 
 



 
 

3 
 

2. All landscaping and landscape elements shall be planted, and earth moving or grading 
performed, in a sound workmanlike manner, according to accepted planting and grading 
procedures. 
 

3. Landscaping required by this Article shall be maintained in a reasonably healthy condition, 
free from refuse and debris. All unhealthy and dead material shall be replaced within one 
(1) year of damage or death or the next appropriate planting period, whichever comes 
first. All landscaped areas shall be provided with a readily available and acceptable water 
supply. 
 

4. Any areas that become disturbed for any reason shall be restored in accordance with the 
original landscape plan unless approved otherwise in writing by the Township.  

 
53.40 Screening Between Land Uses 

 
A. A landscape buffer shall be constructed to create a visual screen between the following land 

use types: 
 

1. Nonresidential land use or zoned property along all adjoining boundaries of a residential 
land use or zoned property.  

 
2. Multi-family or manufactured home community along all adjoining boundaries of a 

residential land use or zoned property. 
 

B. The landscape buffer shall be a minimum of 30 feet in width.  
 

C. The landscape buffer must create a visual barrier at least six (6) feet in height that provides 
opacity to the adjacent property owner.   
 

D. The landscape buffer must contain two (2) canopy trees, two (2) evergreen trees and (2) 
understory trees for every 100 linear feet of required buffer length.  Evergreens may be 
substituted for canopy and understory trees at a 1:1 ratio. 
 

E. The landscape buffer must also include a combination of one or more of the following to 
provide the required 6-foot opaque visual barrier: 

 
1. Berms – landscaped undulating earthen berms with varying heights as measured from the 

grade of the abutting property. 
 

2. Walls or fences – Walls or fences must be a minimum of six (6) feet in height as measured 
on the side of the proposed wall or fence having the higher grade. A required wall or fence 
shall be located on the lot line except where underground utilities interfere and except in 
instances where conformity with front yard setback is required. Upon review of the 
landscape plan, the reviewing body may approve an alternate location of a wall or fence.   
The Planning Department shall review and the Zoning Board or Appeals or Planning 
Commission shall approve the construction materials of the wall or fence which may 
include face brick, poured-in-place simulated face brick, precast brick face panels, stone, 
or wood.  Chain link fences with opaque slats are not permitted. 



 
 

4 
 

3. Plant materials – Landscape planting materials may consist of a variety of materials but 
must provide opacity to the adjacent property. For plant materials, the height 
requirement is based upon reasonably anticipated growth over a period of three (3) years.  
   

F. Where there is a need to provide a greater noise or dust barrier or to screen more intense 
development as determined by the reviewing body, a solid wall or fence with additional 
landscape materials shall be required.  

 
53.50 Parking Lot Landscaping  

 
A. Parking lot landscaping shall include islands or peninsulas to delineate on-site circulation, 

ensure adequate sight distance at the intersection of aisles and interior roadways, and to 
prevent diagonal vehicular movement through parking lots. Features shall be designed with 
sufficient radii to ensure drivers are able to make turns without encroaching upon landscaping 
or adjacent traffic lanes. 
 

B. Total parking lot landscaping shall be based on the following: 
 
1. Parking lots with 10 parking spaces or fewer shall be exempt from parking lot landscaping 

requirements. 
 

2. Parking lots with 11 spaces or more shall provide landscaping at 25 square feet per 
parking lot space.  Total square footage shall be dispersed into separate landscape 
features, such as islands or peninsulas, within parking lots so as to break up the broad 
expanse of pavement, guide the circulation of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, and to 
provide shade and visual relief from pavement. 

   
C. There shall be a minimum of one (1) canopy tree and two (2) low growing shrubs for every 

200 square feet of required parking lot landscaping.  
 

D. The minimum size of any parking lot landscape feature shall be no less than six (6) feet in any 
single dimension and no less than 200 square feet in area. 
 

E. To reduce the impacts of extensive concrete or asphalt, a parking lot landscape feature must 
be provided at least every 200 linear feet of parking spaces. 
 

F. All parking lot landscaping shall be neatly maintained with plant material or mulch. 
 

G. Parking lot landscape features shall be protected by the installation of a raised concrete or 
asphalt curb, anchored landscape timbers around of the border, or other suitable means.  A 
minimum distance of three (3) feet shall be established between proposed trees and the 
backside of the protection device. 

 
53.60 Street Rights-of-Way Greenbelts 

 
A. Greenbelts shall be 20 feet wide along public rights-of-way and 15 feet wide along private 

rights-of-way, measured from the right-of-way line. 
 



 
 

5 
 

B. The greenbelt shall be landscaped with a minimum equivalent of one (1) canopy tree and two 
(2) understory trees for every 100 linear feet, or fraction thereof, of frontage abutting a street 
right-of-way.  
 

C. Parking lots adjacent to street rights-of-way shall provide shrubs at a ratio of 1.5 shrubs for 
every one (1) parking space.  Shrubs that reach a mature height of at least three (3) feet shall 
be utilized and they shall be in groupings spaced at least three (3) feet on center to screen the 
parking lot from the right-of-way. 
 

D. In addition to the required plantings within the greenbelt, the remainder of the greenbelt 
shall be landscaped with grass, ground cover, shrubs, and other organic landscape materials. 
 

E. Access drives from public rights-of-way through required greenbelts shall be permitted, but 
such drives shall not be subtracted from the linear dimension used to determine the minimum 
number of trees required. 
 

F. The clear view zone outlined in Section 53.30.D must be met for all access drives. 
 

G. Trees may be placed in groupings within the greenbelt. 
 

53.70 Interior Site Landscaping 
 

A. In addition to the parking lot and greenbelt landscaping, a minimum of 10 percent of the 
developed area of the parcel, lot or building site must be landscaped. The developed area of 
the parcel, lot or building site shall mean the physical extension and/or construction of any 
man-made change or alteration to an improved or unimproved property.  

 
B. Interior site landscaping shall be located adjacent to buildings and in at least one side or rear 

yard distributed throughout the developed area of the parcel, lot or building site.   
 

C. In addition to the other tree requirements outlined herein, one (1) canopy tree will be 
required for every 1,500 square feet and one (1) understory tree will be required for every 
2,500 square feet of the interior site landscaping. 
 

D. Interior site landscaping shall be provided to enhance the appearance of the site and screen 
potentially objectionable site features such as, but not limited to, retention/detention ponds, 
transformer pads, air conditioning units, and loading areas.  

 
53.80 Loading/Unloading Areas 

 
Loading areas shall be landscaped in such a manner as to screen the area from view of public 
rights-of-way or private access easements.  

 
53.90 Screening of Trash and Recycling Containers 

 
A. Outside trash and recycling disposal containers shall be screened on all sides with an opaque 

fence or wall and gate at least as high as the container, but no less than six (6) feet in height, 
and shall be constructed of material that is compatible with the architectural materials used 



 
 

6 
 

in the site development. The Planning Commission or Zoning Board or Appeals, at its 
discretion, may approve alternative methods of screening that meet the intent of this Article. 
 

B. Containers and enclosures shall be located away from public view insofar as possible, and 
enclosures shall be situated so that they do not cause excessive nuisance or offense to 
occupants of nearby buildings. 
 

C. Screening and gates shall be of a durable construction. Chain link fences with opaque slats are 
not permitted. 

 
53.100 Landscape Elements 

 
A. Native plant materials – At least 75 percent of required trees shall be native to Lower 

Michigan. At least 30 50 percent of all other required landscape material within each Plant 
Material Type shall be native to Lower Michigan. For information on native plants and lists of 
trees and shrubs, see the following websites:  

 
1. www.nativeplants.msu.edu 
2. www.plant.native.org 
3. www.wildflower.org/collections/Michigan 

 
B. Composition - 
 

1. The use of a single species is prohibited. Except for plantings used for evergreen 
screening, no one species of tree or shrub may make up more than 50 percent of the total 
amount of required landscaping material.  

 
2. Any species known to have structural weakness or excessive bearing of fruit or nuts shall 

not be used in areas of vehicular or pedestrian traffic.  
 
3. Species not permitted within street rights-of-way greenbelts and should be used with 

caution when placed in proximity to any existing or proposed building, structure, 
walkway, or parking area are listed in the below table: 

 
Botanical Name Common Name 

Acer negundo Box Elder 

Acer saccharinum Silver Maple 

Aesculus hippocastanum Horse Chestnut 

Ailanthus altissima Tree of Heaven 

Catalpa speciosa Catalpa 

Ginkgo biloba (Female) Female Ginkgo 

Populus spp. Poplars, Cottonwood, Aspen 

Liquidambar styraciflua Sweet Gum 

http://www.nativeplants.msu.edu/
http://www.plant.native.org/
http://www.wildflower.org/collections/Michigan


 
 

7 
 

Botanical Name Common Name 

Salix spp. Willows 

Ulmus spp. Elms 

Fraxinus Ash  
 
4. Invasive species - To protect species indigenous to the Township, the use of invasive 

species which naturalize are prohibited. Those invasive species not permitted are listed 
on the Midwest Invasive Species Information Network at www.misin.msu.edu. 
 

5. Hardy plant materials - All landscaping material shall be hardy to the area and appropriate 
to the situation in which it is proposed, free of disease and insects, and conform to the 
American Standard for Nursery Stock of the American Association of Nurserymen.  

 
C. Minimum size requirements - Where landscaping is required, the following minimum size 

requirements for representative landscape materials shall be applicable. Height of a plant is 
measured from the top of the root ball or top of the container soil to the top of the leader, 
the primary stem of the plant. 

 
Plant Material Type Size 

Canopy Tree - Single Stem  2" caliper* 

Canopy Tree - Multi-Stem Clump  10 feet (height) 

Understory Tree  8' to 10' (height) 

Evergreen Tree  5 feet (height) 

Shrub - Deciduous  24 inches (height) 

Shrub - Evergreen  18 inches (height) 

Shrub - Low Growing  2-gallon pot 
 *2" caliper as measured in conformance with the American Standard for Nursery Stock. 

 
D. Berms – Any proposed berms shall be constructed with slopes not to exceed a one to three 

(1:3) gradient. Berm slopes shall be protected with sod, seed, or other form of natural ground 
cover. 
 

E. Coordination with utilities - Provision shall be made to coordinate landscaping with existing 
and proposed underground and overhead utility lines so as to avoid interference with plant 
growth. 
 

F. Storm water retention and detention ponds - The integration of storm water retention and 
detention ponds in the overall landscape concept is recommended. Ponds with a natural or 
free form shape, rather than square or rectangular design and appearance, shall be required.  
If site constraints dictate a more engineered shape, the design and appearance must be 
approved by the reviewing body. Any fenced areas that are visible from an adjacent property, 
public right-of-way or private access easement shall be landscaped to screen them from view. 

http://www.misin.msu.edu/


 
 

8 
 

Landscape materials may consist of a variety of plantings that provide generally consistent 
screening of the fence. For plant materials, the height requirement is based upon reasonably 
anticipated growth over a period of three (3) years.  

 
53.110 Tree Preservation Credits 

  
A. Tree preservation credits shall be given for trees preserved within the developed portion of a 

parcel, lot or building site.  The location of preserved trees shall determine which specific 
landscape requirement shall be reduced. 
 

B. Credit shall be awarded for preserving canopy trees. The number of credits awarded for tree 
preservation shall be in accordance with the table presented below.  Trees intended to be 
preserved shall be indicated on the landscape plan and type and size shall be noted. 
    
Tree Preservation Credits 

Diameter of Preserved Tree*  Number of Trees credited 

Over 24 inches 4 

12 inches to 24 inches 3 

8 inches to 11.9 inches 2 

2 inches to 7.9 inches 1 
 *Diameter measured at 4' above ground level. 

 
C. In the event that healthy trees which are used to meet the minimum requirements of this 

section or those labeled to remain are cut down, destroyed, damaged, or excavated at the 
dripline, as determined by the Township, the contractor shall replace them with trees which 
meet Ordinance requirements. 

 
53.120 Tree Protection prior to and during Construction.  
 

A. Before any site work begins, the developer or builder shall erect tree protection fencing that 
will shield and protect all trees designated to be preserved. Fencing should be placed no closer 
than ten feet from the trunk of a tree or five feet beyond the drip line of a tree or group of 
trees, whichever is greater.  
 

B. Fencing shall be a minimum of 48 inches high. 
 

C. Tree protection fencing shall be maintained during construction and all construction 
materials, supplies, and equipment shall be kept out of the protected areas.  
 

D. Paving, or other site improvements, shall not encroach upon the dripline of the existing trees 
to be preserved. 
 

E. Location of tree protection fencing must be shown on the approved landscape plan. 
 
 



 
 

9 
 

53.130 Preservation of Existing Native Vegetation.  
 

Credit shall be awarded for preserving existing vegetation native to Lower Michigan, including 
shrubs and grassland species. By preserving existing native vegetation, tree and shrub planting 
requirements can be reduced. The number of credits awarded shall be recommended by 
Township planning staff and approved by the reviewing body based on a natural features 
inventory prepared by an environmental professional or landscape architect that describes 
existing species and the intended function of the required tree and shrub plantings.  

 
53.140 Incentives for Restoring Pre-Settlement Vegetation  

 
A. Oshtemo Township's pre-settlement vegetation types were primarily Oak Savanna, Oak 

Forest, and Beech-Sugar Maple Forest, with smaller areas of Prairie, Marsh, Bur Oak Opening, 
and Southern Swamp Forest. A map of pre-settlement vegetation showing the geographic 
location of these vegetation types is on file in the Township office. It includes a description of 
the predominant plant species for each vegetation type.  
 

B. To encourage restoration of pre-settlement vegetation, all uses subject to site plan review 
may opt to submit a landscape restoration plan in lieu of a landscape plan. A landscape 
restoration plan shall use native vegetation types to meet the intent of screening and 
buffering requirements while at the same time strive to restore the pre-settlement vegetation 
of the immediate area. Even though the exact number of each landscape element may not be 
provided, approval of such a plan shall be granted so long as the overall intent is satisfied. 
Township planning staff shall recommend and the reviewing body shall approve a landscape 
restoration plan.  

 
53.150 Provisions for Existing Sites 

 
A. Street rights-of-way greenbelts and screening between land uses shall be required for any 

existing site where the renovation, expansion or alteration increases the structure by more 
than 25 percent of the existing floor area or is greater than 2,000 square feet.  
 

B. Landscape requirements for parking lots shall apply when expansions increase the number of 
parking spaces by 25 percent or at least eleven (11) parking spaces. Parking lot landscaping 
requirements shall be based on, and only apply to, the new spaces developed. 
 

C. If site constraints prevent the application of these requirements, the reviewing body may 
grant an alternate approach or reduction in the landscape requirements through the site plan 
review process.  
 

53.160 Modifications or Reductions 
 

If an unusual physical circumstance exists on or affects a property, the reviewing body may 
approve modifications to the planting material requirements of this Article. These modifications 
may include the approval of plantings and visual screening such as hedges, fences, walls, and/or 
combinations thereof, which provides an alternate approach the reviewing body deems 
appropriate to ensure compliance with the spirit, purpose and intent of this Article.  
 



 
 

10 
 

If existing topography and vegetation are determined by the reviewing body to provide equal or 
better landscape and buffering effect, reductions in plantings may also be approved if the spirit, 
purpose and intent of this Article is met. 



 

5 
 

approach to implementing Section 41.50 of the PUD regulations substantial justice will 
be observed and that the public health, safety, and general welfare will not be 
compromised. Ms. Maxwell supported the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
  
 
PUBLIC HEARING: LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE 
CONSIDERATION OF THE DRAFT LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE FOR 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE TOWNSHIP BOARD 
  
 Ms. Johnston reported in 2016, the Planning Commission worked for several 
months developing a new Landscape Ordinance.  Time was spent in the field reviewing 
constructed sites to see how landscaping was being developed and other community 
ordinances were examined for comparisons.  A revised draft Landscape Ordinance was 
developed, which staff applied to existing sites around Oshtemo and reviewed with the 
Commission.   
 
 At the conclusion of the draft ordinance review, staff knew the Planning 
Commission would be working on revising and reorganizing the entirety of the Zoning 
Ordinance and therefore, decided to table the new Landscape Ordinance to become a 
part of that project instead of holding the public hearings for adoption. As time 
constraints persisted, the revised/reorganized Zoning Ordinance project was reduced to 
being primarily a “reorganization” project.  Sweeping changes to the Ordinance, which 
were originally envisioned, were tabled until after the reorganization was complete. 
 
 She noted the Planning Commission resumed its review of the Landscape 
Ordinance in July of this year.  Several meetings were held where additional 
amendments were completed.  The proposed document will repeal and replace the 
current landscaping ordinance.   
 
The draft Ordinance presented for public hearing differs from the Township’s existing 
ordinance in the following ways:  
 

1. The draft Ordinance requires an overall percentage of the site be landscaped, 
which is generally slightly less in square footage than the current ordinance 
landscaping requirements. 
 

2. The current ordinance is very specific where landscaping must occur – at the 
property lines. The draft ordinance requires landscaping in the parking lots and 
along public and private rights-of-way but allows the design professional to 
determine where the rest of the required landscaping will be planned on the site. 
 

3. The total number of required trees is slightly less than the current ordinance, 
which will hopefully allow tree species a better opportunity to survive on the site. 
 

4. There are very specific requirements for opaque screening between incompatible 
land uses in the recommended ordinance, which can include a variety of berms, 



 

6 
 

fences, walls, landscape materials, etc.  But the screening must be six feet in 
height and opaque.  The current ordinance requires larger buffer zones between 
incompatible uses, but the plant materials are generally trees, which do not 
provide much screening when the lower branches reach a height beyond five 
feet. 
 

5. For certain landscape plans, the seal of an architect is required in the 
recommended ordinance.  This is to ensure that if someone is requesting tree 
credits or wishes to submit an alternate approach to the landscaping 
requirements, a landscape design professional is creating the plans. 

 
 Ms. Johnston indicated two changes were made to the draft Ordinance since the 
Planning Commission’s review at their October 10th meeting.  The first was a 
modification within the parking lot landscaping section, returning to the use of canopy 
trees instead of understory trees within the required landscaped areas.  The concern 
with understory trees was that very small trees could be planted (maximum growth at 8 
to 10 feet), which would not provide the desired visual aesthetic we are trying to reach 
or provide shade within the parking lot areas. 
 
 The second change was to the native planting requirements.  The amendment 
increased native plantings for all other landscape material to 50 percent where 30 
percent was previously required.  The 75 percent native planting requirement for trees 
remained the same.  
 
 She said the three main objectives of the new ordinance were 1) to allow a 
smaller buffer zone between buildings, 2) allow for more flexibility, and 3) provide for 
more/improved screening between residential and non-residential properties. 
 
 Ms. Johnston noted staff applied the new requirements to actual existing large 
and small locations within the Township and found the new requirements could be 
easily accommodated. 
 
 She indicated after receiving public input, staff was recommending approval of 
the draft Landscaping Ordinance to be forwarded to the Township Board for approval. 
  
 The Chair opened a Public Hearing, but closed it and moved to Board 
Deliberations after determining no members of the public wished to comment. 
 
 Ms. Farmer indicated she was in support of the proposed ordinance. After 
determining there were no further Board comments, the Chair requested a motion. 
  
 Ms. Dickason made a motion to approve the proposed ordinance as presented 
and to forward it to the Township Board for their consideration and approval. Mr. 
Commissaris supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 



 

 

 
 
April 20, 2020 
 
 
Mtg Date:   April 28, 2020 
 
To:  Oshtemo Charter Township Board   
 
From:  Iris Lubbert, AICP, Planning Director 
 
Subject: Lighting Ordinance – First Reading 
 
 
Objective: 
Consideration of the Lighting Ordinance for first reading. 
 
Background:  
There has recently been some concern about how the newly implemented Outdoor Lighting 
Standards Ordinance (Section 54.60) could be interpreted, specifically the Ordinance’s intent and 
the general usage of outdoor upward lighting. This discussion was 
triggered by the recently installed blue up lighting at the Holiday 
Inn Express at 1315 Westgate Drive, see image to the right. The 
building-mounted lighting section in the current Lighting 
Ordinance implies that this type of upward lighting is permitted 
with the Planning Commission’s approval. However, this 
interpretation goes against the stated intent of the Township’s 
lighting regulations. It should be noted that the blue upward lights 
were not part of the approved 2017 Holiday Inn Express’ lighting 
plan and have been accordingly turned off.  While reviewing this 
case, staff was made aware that the upward lighting standards 
were unclear and open to subjective interpretation. Please note 
that prior to the adoption of our current Lighting Ordinance on 
September 10th, 2019 upward lighting of this nature was strictly 
prohibited.  
 
At their regular December 12th meeting the Planning Commission revisited Section 54.60 Outdoor 
Lighting Standards to discuss the intent of the regulations pertaining to upward lighting and 
determine if and what amendments may be needed to clarify that intent. It was determined that 
further discussion was necessary. The Planning Commission directed staff to revisit this section 
and explore the possibility of up lighting in more detail.  
 
As the Dark Sky Initiative was a consideration in the development of the original ordinance, staff 
explored options allowing up lighting that would be in line with this directive. After conducting 

Photo taken by Township 
Ordinance Enforcement 
Officer in October 2019 



Oshtemo Charter Township Board 
Lighting Ordinance – First Reading 
04/28/2020 ∙ Page 2 

 
research and analyzing how other communities regulate up lighting, staff presented two code 
amendment directions to the Planning Commission to consider at their regular January 30th 
meeting. Option One completely removed up lighting as a possibility for illuminating building 
facades. Option Two allowed for the up lighting of building facades with restrictions. Both options 
also included a number of smaller additional text amendments throughout Article 54 that would 
help with the clarity and intent of the code. After discussion, the Planning Commission agreed to 
move forward and set a Public Hearing for Option One, with some minor changes, which would 
completely remove up lighting as a means to illuminate building facades. The Planning 
Commission generally agreed that Option One was more consistent with the Dark Sky Initiative 
and the original intent of the code.  
 
The Township Attorney, Zoning Administrator, and Ordinance Enforcement Officer have 
reviewed the proposed language and support the proposed amendments to Article 54. A notice 
for the Public Hearing was published on Tuesday, February 11th, 2020. 
 
After holding a public hearing on February 27th, the Planning Commission made a motion to 
forward the draft Lighting Ordinance to the Township Board with a recommendation of approval. 
 
Summary of Proposed Amendments:  
Section 54.20 Applicability 

• Adding a requirement that all properties need to fully conform with the lighting ordinance 
when fifty percent or more of their existing outdoor lighting fixtures have been or will be 
replaced or modified. – The proposed language would help ensure that all properties 
within the Township would eventually be brought into compliance with the lighting 
ordinance and contribute to the Dark Sky Initiative. 

Section 54.30 Definitions 
• Removing “or translucent” from the definition of a Baffle or light shield. – Removing this 

language from this definition helps ensure that glare and lateral light spill from outdoor 
lights within the Township can be mitigated. This amendment also removes any 
opportunity for a subjective interpretation of what could be considered translucent.    

• Removing and modifying images from the Fixture, cutoff and Fixture, non-cutoff 
definitions. – The current two images generate confusion as they refer to terms not used 
anywhere else in the code. Removing and adjusting the images as shown helps to prevent 
confusion. 

Section 54.50 Prohibited Lighting  
• Clarify that fixtures that direct light upward are only allowed when expressly permitted in 

this Article. – Adding “expressly” to this provision helps staff avoid any future 
interpretation that up lighting may be permitted in sections of the code where it was not 
the intent.  

• Expanding the type of unshielded fixtures that are not permitted. The intent of the code 
is that no outdoor fixtures are unshielded. This modification ensures that this intent is 
clear.  
 



Oshtemo Charter Township Board 
Lighting Ordinance – First Reading 
04/28/2020 ∙ Page 3 

 
Section 54.60 Outdoor Lighting Standards 

• Reiterating that all outdoor lighting shall be directed downward unless expressly 
permitted. –  The current language that addresses the direction of lighting in this section 
only notes that lights should be directed away from adjacent properties. 

• Clarifying that all building mounted lighting needs to be downward directed. – This 
amendment clarifies that all outdoor lighting used for the purpose of illuminating the 
exterior of a building is directed downward.    

• Adding a note to refer to the signage section of the code for sign lighting requirements. – 
This amendment seeks to help users navigate the code to find additional lighting 
requirements that could be applicable. 

 
Thank you. 
 
Attachments:  

Proposed Amendments (denoted in red) to the Lighting Ordinance - Article 54 
 Planning Commission Minutes excerpt – 02/27/20 
   
    
 
 
 



 

54.10 INTENT 
A. Statement of purpose. The purpose of this Article is to regulate the placement and arrangement of 

lighting within the Township. These regulations are intended to: 
1. Protect the public health, safety and general welfare by regulating lighting levels; 
2. Control light spillover and glare; 
3. Minimize the detrimental effect of urban sky glow; 
4. Encourage lighting systems which conserve energy and costs; 
5. Preserve community character and enhance the appearance of the Township; 
6. Provide for nighttime safety, and security. 

B. Objectives. Outdoor lighting shall satisfy the following objectives. 
1. Avoid excessive light spillover onto any adjacent premises; 
2. Be shielded, and downward directed so that the light intensity or brightness will not interfere with 

the enjoyment, health, safety, and welfare of surrounding properties; 
3. Control illumination of vertical architectural surfaces. 
4. Provide for uniform lighting within sites. 
5. Enable the fair and consistent enforcement of these regulations. 

54.20 APPLICABILITY 
Except as is otherwise provided below, these lighting requirements shall apply to all lighting installed on 
any property within the Township. Any lighting legally in existence before the effective date of this 
Ordinance that does not comply with these requirements shall be considered legal nonconforming and 
may remain, except as detailed in Section 54.80 and subject to the following provisions: 

A. Alterations to existing lighting. 
1. When poles and support structures are destroyed or removed, they must be replaced with poles 

and supports that comply with all of the provisions of this Article. 
2. When luminaries are destroyed or removed, they must be replaced with luminaries that comply 

with all provisions of this Article. 
B. New parking lots or parking lot additions. When a new parking lot or addition to an existing parking lot 

is constructed, the new lot or lot addition must be provided with lighting in compliance with this Article. 
C. New structures, additions, or replacements. When a site is improved with new structures, or additions 

to, or replacements of existing structures, the lighting for the new structure, addition, or replacement 
on the site must meet the requirements of this Article. 

D. When fifty percent or more of existing outdoor light fixtures have been or will be replaced or modified 
since this ordinance became effective, then all lighting must be made to conform to the provisions of 
this lighting ordinance. 

54.30 DEFINITIONS 
 Ambient lighting - The general overall level of lighting in an area. 

Baffle or light shield - An opaque or translucent element to screen a light source from direct view. 



 

Building canopy - A portion of the building, whether structural or architectural in character, that projects 
outward. 

Bulb or lamp - The source of electric light. The term "bulb or lamp" is to be distinguished from the whole 
assembly (see Luminaire). 

Canopy structure - An overhead structure which is designed to allow vehicles or pedestrians to pass under 
it. 

Color rendering index (CRI) - a scale from 0 to 100 percent measuring a light source's ability to show 
object colors "realistically" or "naturally" compared to a familiar reference source, either incandescent 
light or daylight. 

Encased – a lamp obscured by translucent sheathing. 

Existing lighting - Any and all lighting installed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance. 

Exterior lighting - Temporary or permanent lighting that is installed, located, or used in such a manner to 
emit light outside. Fixtures that are installed indoors that are intended to draw attention to the exterior 
of the building from the outside are considered exterior lighting for the purposes of this Article. 

Fixture - The assembly that holds a lamp and may include an assembly housing, a mounting bracket or 
pole socket, a lamp holder, a ballast, a reflector or mirror, and a refractor or lens. 

Fixture, cutoff – A fixture that allows no emissions above the horizontal plane passing through the lowest 
point on the fixture from where light is emitted.  

 
Fixture, non-cutoff – A fixture that allows light to emit beyond the horizontal plan of the lowest point of 
the fixture and/or allows light emissions in all directions. 

 



 

Foot-candle - A unit of measurement for quantifying the brightness of illumination produced on a surface. 
One foot-candle is equal to one lumen per square foot. 

Glare - Harsh, uncomfortably brilliant light caused by the ability to see an unshielded light source. 

Kelvin rating – A unit to measure the color temperature of a light source, the higher the Kelvin rating 
(expressed in K), the whiter the light source. 

Lamp - The component of a luminaire that produces the light. 

Light pole - The structure to support and elevate a luminaire. 

Light trespass - Light that is unnecessarily emitted beyond the boundaries of the property on which the 
luminaire is located. 

Lighting ratio - The ratio of foot-candles from the minimum to the maximum point calculations or readings 
for a given area. This ratio is an indicator of lighting uniformity. The lower the ratio the better the 
uniformity. 

Luminaire – The complete lighting system, including the lamp and light fixture. 

Lumen - A unit of measurement for quantifying the amount of light energy emitted by a light source 
(power of the light radiated by the light source). 

Photometric plan - A diagram prepared by a lighting professional that is certified by the National Council 
on Qualifications for the Lighting Professions (NCQLP), or a state licensed professional engineer, architect, 
or landscape architect showing predicted maintained lighting levels produced by the proposed lighting 
fixtures, including any freestanding and building mounted lighting. 

Recessed - When a light is built into a structure or portion of a structure such that the light is fully cut off 
by the structure to which it is attached. 

Shielded - A bulb or lamp concealed by a baffle or light shield. 

Spotlight - A luminaire designed to light only a small, well defined area or object. 

Urban sky glow - The brightening of the night sky due to manmade lighting. 

Visibility - Being perceived by the human eye. 

54.40 EXEMPTIONS 
A. Emergency lighting necessary to conduct rescue operations, support public safety, provide emergency 

medical treatment, to illuminate emergency means of egress, or address any other emergency 
situation. 

B. Lighting operated by a public utility or agency during the course of constructing, repairing, or replacing 
public utilities and infrastructure. 

C. Temporary construction lighting, provided it is discontinued daily immediately upon completion of the 
work. 

D. Temporary holiday decorative lighting, from November 15th through January 5th. 

E. Lights on communication towers and other hazards to aerial navigation as may be required by the 
Federal Aviation Administration. 

F. Lighting used to illuminate a flag of the United States, subject to Section 54.60.D. 



 

G. Lighting associated with Department of Agriculture recognized agricultural activities. 

H. Typical residential light fixtures on residential buildings and associated accessory buildings, which do 
not violate Section 54.50, are exempt from the cut-off requirement when mounted at a height of eight 
feet or less. 

I. All outdoor light fixtures existing and legally installed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance.  

54.50 PROHIBITED LIGHTING 
A. Lighting of a blinking, flashing, rotating, or fluttering nature, including changes in light intensity, 

brightness or color except for public safety purposes.54.50 

B. Beacon and/or search lights except for public safety purposes. 

C. Fixtures that direct light upward, unless expressly permitted by this Article. 

D. Roof mounted lighting. 

E. Lighting of an intensity or brightness that interferes with enjoyment, health, safety, and welfare of 
surrounding properties. 

F. Unshielded fixtures, including luminous tubes, LEDs, incandescent or fluorescent lighting, as an 
architectural detail on the exterior of any structure or the interior of any windows; including but not 
limited to rooflines, cornices, eaves, windows, and door openings.  

 

54.60 OUTDOOR LIGHTING STANDARDS 
A. General Provisions 

1. Cut-Off Fixtures. All luminaires are required to be cut-off fixtures, unless otherwise permitted in 
this Article. 

2. Security Lighting. Security or flood lighting shall be attached to buildings and controlled by motion 
sensors, which extinguish within 10 minutes of activation. 

3. Direction of Lighting. Lighting plans shall be designed to direct light into the development and away 
from adjacent property. Unless expressly permitted by this Article, all outdoor lighting fixtures shall 
be fully shielded and directed downward, parallel to the ground, to prevent off-site glare and 
illumination. 

4. Light Levels at Property Line. Site and area lighting of nonresidential properties shall be designed 
such that light levels do not exceed 0.1 foot-candles at any point along the perimeter of the 



 

property adjacent to residential zoning or uses and 0.5 foot-candles adjacent to all other zoning 
and uses. 

5. Shared Parking Lots. Lighting designed to illuminate shared parking lots that span two or more 
parcels shall be exempt from the 0.5 foot-candle requirement at the shared property line only. 

6. Parking Lot and Drive Aisle Lighting Ratio. To provide for uniformity of lighting, the ratio of 
maximum to minimum levels of light within the parking lot and drive aisle areas of a nonresidential 
property shall not exceed 20:1. Exception shall be made for those areas along the perimeter of the 
property where a significant reduction in lighting is expected in order to comply with the provisions 
of the subsection above. 

7. Reduced Lighting. Lighting shall be significantly reduced during non-operational building hours, 
allowing only lighting necessary for security purposes. Lighting installations should include timers, 
dimmers, and/or sensors to reduce overall energy consumption and eliminate unneeded lighting 
that affects urban sky glow. The lighting plan shall note when and how this reduction in lighting will 
occur.  

8. Color Temperature and Rendering. Lighting for all nonresidential developments shall have the 
following: 

a. A minimum color rendering index (CRI) of 65. 

b. A Kelvin rating between 3,000-5,000k. 

B. Pole-Mounted Lighting 

1. All pole-mounted luminaires shall be affixed horizontally and angled parallel to the ground. 

2. No more than two luminaires shall be allowed per pole. 

3. Luminaire height of 15 feet or less shall not exceed 12,000 lumens per luminaire and shall be spaced 
a minimum of 30 feet apart. 

4. Luminaire height greater than 15 feet and not exceeding 25 feet shall not exceed 20,000 lumens 
per luminaire and shall be spaced a minimum of 40 feet apart. 

5. Luminaire height exceeding 25 feet shall be subject to approval by the reviewing body. The 
applicant must prove, to the reviewing body’s satisfaction, that pole heights exceeding 25 feet are 
needed to ensure public health, safety, and welfare. If permitted, such lighting shall not exceed 
40,000 lumens per luminaire and shall be spaced a minimum of 50 feet apart.  

C. Building-Mounted Lighting 

1. Pedestrian walkways and doorways 

a. Mounted height shall not exceed 14-feet in height. 

b. Each luminaire shall not exceed 8,000 lumens and shall be spaced so the lighting for pedestrian 
walkways does not exceed 2.0 foot-candles and entryways do not exceed 6.0 foot-candles. 

2. Luminaires used for the sole purpose of illuminating a building façade: 

a. May be up to 1.5 foot-candles averaged over each respective the building façade face. 

b. May Shall be located on the building or be ground-mounted. 



 

c. Light generated from said fixtures shall be downward directed and appropriately shielded so 
that no light is emitted beyond the building facade. 

d. Shall strictly adhere to the reduced lighting clause outlined in 54.60(A)(7). 

1. Architectural features. The use of architectural features on the building, such as a canopy, which 
prevent the projection of light beyond the architectural feature may satisfy the intent of this 
Section and allow the use of noncut-off fixtures, subject to the approval of the reviewing body. 

B. Landscape Features and Green Belt Lighting 

1. Landscape luminaires may include uplighting, which is specifically directed at the landscape or plant 
feature. 

2. Shall be equipped with shields to help direct light to the landscape or plant feature and to help 
eliminate light spillover and glare. 

3. Shall not exceed 300 lumens per luminaire. 

4. Shall not exceed a height of 18-inches above grade. 

C. Special Uses 

1. Service station/fuel sales canopy structure 

a. Luminaires shall be recessed so that the lens cover is flush with the lower surface of the canopy 
and shielded by a fixture or the edge of the canopy so that light is directed downward. 

b. As an alternative, indirect lighting may be used where uplighting is reflected from the underside 
of the canopy. When this method is used, luminaires must be shielded so that direct light is 
focused exclusively on the underside of the canopy. 

c. Luminaires shall not be mounted on the top or sides (fascia) of a canopy. 

d. Internally illuminated signs in compliance with the Sign Ordinance may be placed on the fascia 
of the canopy. 

e. The total light output directly below the canopy shall not exceed 30 foot-candles. 

2. Outdoor dining areas 

a. Decorative unshielded lighting may be used in outdoor dining areas as long as the lighting does 
not exceed 1.5 foot-candles and is designed to control light spillover and reduce glare to 
adjacent properties. 

b. Lighting in outdoor dining areas adjacent to residentially zoned or used land must be 
extinguished by 11:00 pm or when the business closes, whichever is first. 

D. Signage 

1. Lighting may be used to illuminate signs, subject to Section 55.150. 

54.70 INTERIOR LIGHTING 
Where interior lighting and/or lighting displays are located within 10 feet of a bay of windows, glass doors, 
or other transparent areas of a building facade, walls, or roof (e.g., skylights), the lighting shall be shielded 
or screened to reduce visibility and prevent glare to patrons, individuals on adjacent and nearby 
properties, and/or motorists on adjacent streets. 



 

54.80 EXISTING LIGHTING 
All lighting established prior to this Ordinance shall be so arranged as to avoid glare or direct illumination 
onto any portion of any adjacent rights-of-way or onto any adjacent premises. 

54.90 ADMINISTRATION 
A site lighting plan for uses requiring Site Plan review shall be submitted, in compliance with this Article, 
and shall provide the following information: 

A. Proposed location on premises of all outdoor light fixture(s), including all building-mounted lighting, 
architectural lighting, and landscape lighting. 

B. Manufacturer specification sheets, cut-sheets, or other manufacturer provided information for all 
proposed luminaires that provides a description of the illumination devices, fixtures, lamps, supports, 
reflectors, and other devices, including lumens produced. 

C. The height of all luminaires and poles. 

D. A photometric plan showing foot-candle readings every ten feet within the subject site and ten feet 
beyond the property lines, including lighting ratios. 

E. If building elevations are proposed for illumination, drawings shall be provided for all relevant building 
elevations showing the fixtures, the portions of the elevations to be illuminated, the illuminance levels 
of the elevations, and the aiming point for any remote light fixture. 

 

 



16 
 

1. Prior to installation of the trail, construction details and engineering documents 
will be submitted for the review and approval by Oshtemo’s Engineering and 
Building Department.

2. Trail hours will be sunrise to 30 minutes after sunset.
3. If additional restrooms and/or parking are deemed necessary, a restroom and/or 

parking lot will be provided where the trail intersects with 6th Street. The 
installation of this parking lot or a trial head will be required to go through the 
special use review processes and a public hearing.

4. Stop signs will be installed along the trail both east and west of 6th Street. 
5. Applicant to coordinate with property owners at 4310 S 7th Street regarding a 

landscaping buffer or a privacy fence to screen the existing residence from the 
trail. 

6. A sign will be installed alerting potential trail users that there is no public access 
or parking at the end of 7th Street.

7. Access easements will be provided to properties that have land on both sides of 
the trail. 

8. If gates are installed across the trail in the future, they will be accessible to the 
Fire Department.

9. When the trail is being designed an open house will be held with neighboring 
property owners.

With the intent to keep in mind the concerns of citizens. Mr. Commissaris seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously.

Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next item on the agenda and asked Ms. 
Lubbert for her presentation.

PUBLIC HEARING: LIGHTING ORDINANCE
CONSIDERATION OF AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLE 54 - LIGHTING ORDINANCE, 
FOR RECOMMENDATION TO THE TOWNSHIP BOARD.

Ms. Lubbert said there has recently been some concern about how the newly 
implemented Outdoor Lighting Standards Ordinance (Section 54.60) could be 
interpreted, specifically the Ordinance’s intent and the general usage of outdoor upward 
lighting. This discussion was triggered by the recently installed blue up lighting at the 
Holiday Inn Express at 1315 Westgate Drive. The building-mounted lighting section in 
the current Lighting Ordinance implies that this type of upward lighting is permitted with 
the Planning Commission’s approval. However, this interpretation goes against the 
stated intent of the Township’s lighting regulations. The blue upward lights were not part 
of the approved 2017 Holiday Inn Express’ lighting plan and have been accordingly 
turned off.  While reviewing this case, staff was made aware that the upward lighting 
standards were unclear and open to subjective interpretation. Prior to the adoption of 
our current Lighting Ordinance on September 10th, 2019 upward lighting of this nature 
was strictly prohibited. 



17 
 

At their regular December 12th meeting the Planning Commission revisited 
Section 54.60 Outdoor Lighting Standards to discuss the intent of the regulations 
pertaining to upward lighting and to determine if and what amendments may be needed 
to clarify intent. It was determined further discussion was necessary. The Commission 
directed staff to revisit this section and explore the possibility of up lighting in more 
detail. 

Ms. Lubbert elaborated that as the Dark Sky Initiative was a consideration in the 
development of the original ordinance, staff explored options allowing up lighting that 
would be in line with this directive. After conducting research and analyzing how other 
communities regulate up lighting, staff presented two code amendment directions to the 
Commission to consider at their regular January 30th meeting. Option One completely 
removed up lighting as a possibility for illuminating building facades. Option Two 
allowed for the up lighting of building facades with restrictions. Both options also 
included a number of smaller additional text amendments throughout Article 54 that 
would help with the clarity and intent of the code. After discussion the Commission 
agreed to move forward and set a Public Hearing for Option One, with some minor 
changes, which would completely remove up lighting to illuminate building facades. The 
Commission generally agreed that Option One was more consistent with the Dark Sky 
Initiative and the original intent of the code. 

The Township Attorney, Zoning Administrator, and Ordinance Enforcement 
Officer reviewed the proposed language and support the proposed amendments to 
Article 54. A Public Hearing notice was published on Tuesday, February 11th, 2020. She 
provided a summary of the proposed amendments: 

Section 54.20 Applicability
Adding a requirement that all properties need to fully conform with the lighting 
ordinance when fifty percent or more of their existing outdoor lighting fixtures 
have been or will be replaced or modified. – The proposed language would help 
ensure that all properties within the Township would eventually be brought into 
compliance with the lighting ordinance and contribute to the Dark Sky Initiative.

Section 54.30 Definitions
Removing “or translucent” from the definition of a Baffle or light shield. –
Removing this language from this definition helps ensure that glare and lateral 
light spill from outdoor lights within the Township can be mitigated. This 
amendment also removes any opportunity for a subjective interpretation of what 
could be considered translucent.   
Removing and modifying images from the Fixture, cutoff and Fixture, non-cutoff
definitions. – The current two images generate confusion as they refer to terms 
not used anywhere else in the code. Removing and adjusting the images as 
shown helps to prevent confusion.

Section 54.50 Prohibited Lighting 
Clarify that fixtures that direct light upward are only allowed when expressly
permitted in this Article. – Adding “expressly” to this provision helps staff avoid 
any future interpretation that up lighting may be permitted in sections of the code 



18 
 

where it was not the intent. 
Expanding the type of unshielded fixtures that are not permitted. The intent of the 
code is that no outdoor fixtures are unshielded. This modification ensures that 
this intent is clear. 

Section 54.60 Outdoor Lighting Standards
Reiterating that all outdoor lighting shall be directed downward unless expressly 
permitted. – The current language that addresses the direction of lighting in this 
section only notes that lights should be directed away from adjacent properties.
Clarifying that all building mounted lighting needs to be downward directed. –
This amendment clarifies that all outdoor lighting used for the purpose of 
illuminating the exterior of a building is directed downward.   
Adding a note to refer to the signage section of the code for sign lighting 
requirements. – This amendment seeks to help users navigate the code to find 
additional lighting requirements that could be applicable.

She recommended the Commission approve and forward these amendments to 
the Township Board for adoption.

Chairperson VanderWeele moved to a public hearing and asked if there were 
comments from audience members.

An anonymous woman said she was glad to see this amendment to help keep 
stars visible at night.

Mr. Jim VandenBerg, Maple Hill Auto Group, said moonlight is rated at one foot-
candle and cautioned Commissioners not to narrow brightness too much for commercial 
properties.

Hearing no further comments, the Chair moved to Board Deliberations.

Ms. Maxwell said the group has discussed foot-candle levels many times and did 
not feel comfortable changing the level at this time.

Chairperson VanderWeele indicated they relied on photometrics. Hearing no 
further discussion he asked for a motion.

Ms. Versalle made a motion to approve the eight proposed amendments as 
presented to Article 54 – Lighting Ordinance and recommend them to the Township 
Board for adoption.

Ms. Farmer seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously.

Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next agenda item and asked Ms. 
Lubbert for her presentation.



1 
 

 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO. ____ 
 
 Adopted: ________________, 2020  
 
 Effective: ________________, 2020 
 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE  
 
 
 An Ordinance to amend the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Ordinance by the amendment 

Article 54 Lighting, Sections 54.20 Applicability, 54.30 Definitions, 54.50 Prohibited Lighting, and 54.60 

Outdoor Lighting Standards.  This Ordinance repeals all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 ORDAINS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SECTION I.  AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 54 LIGHTING, 

SECTION 54.20 APPLICABILITY.  Article 54 Lighting, Section 54.20 Applicability is 

hereby amended by the addition of Paragraph D to read as follows: 

  
54.20 Applicability 

 
D. When fifty percent or more of existing outdoor light fixtures have been or will 

be replaced or modified since this ordinance became effective, then all lighting 
must be made to conform to the provisions of this lighting ordinance. 

 



2 
 

 

 

SECTION II. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 54 LIGHTING, 

SECTION 54.30 DEFINITIONS.  Article 54 Lighting, Section 54.30 Definitions is 

hereby revised by the amendment of the definition of “Baffle or light shield” 

and the amendment of the graphics under the definitions of “Fixture, Cutoff” 

and “Fixture, non-cutoff” to read as follows: 

54.30 Definitions 
 

Baffle or light shield - An opaque element to screen a light source from direct view. 
 
Fixture, cutoff – A fixture that allows no emissions above the horizontal plane passing through 
the lowest point on the fixture from where light is emitted.  

 
 
 
Fixture, non-cutoff – A fixture that allows light to emit beyond the horizontal plan of the lowest 
point of the fixture and/or allows light emissions in all directions. 

  

 
 
 



3 
 

SECTION III. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 54 LIGHTING, 

SECTION 54.50 PROHIBITED LIGHTING.  Article 54 Lighting, Section 54.50 

Prohibited Lighting is hereby revised by the amendment of Paragraphs C and F, 

as well as the graphic under Paragraph F,  to read as follows: 

54.50 Prohibited Lighting 
 

C. Fixtures that direct light upward, unless expressly permitted by this Article. 
 
F. Unshielded fixtures, including luminous tubes, LEDs, incandescent or fluorescent 

lighting, as an architectural detail on the exterior of any structure or the interior 
of any windows; including but not limited to rooflines, cornices, eaves, windows, 
and door openings.  

 
 

 
SECTION IV. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 54 LIGHTING, 

SECTION 54.60 OUTDOOR LIGHTING STANDARDS.  Article 54 Lighting, Section 
54.60 Outdoor Lighting Standards  is hereby revised by the amendment of 
Paragraph A  General Provisions, Subparagraph 3, Paragraph C. Building-
Mounted Lighting, and the addition of Paragraph D Signage, to read as follows: 

 
54.60 Outdoor Lighting Standards 

 
 A. General Provisions 
 

3. Direction of Lighting. Lighting plans shall be designed to direct 
light into the development and away from adjacent property. 
Unless expressly permitted by this Article, all outdoor lighting 
fixtures shall be fully shielded and directed downward, parallel 
to the ground, to prevent off-site glare and illumination. 

 
C. Building-Mounted Lighting 
 

1. Pedestrian walkways and doorways 



4 
 

 
a. Mounted height shall not exceed 14-feet in height. 

 
b. Each luminaire shall not exceed 8,000 lumens and shall 

be spaced so the lighting for pedestrian walkways does 
not exceed 2.0 foot-candles and entryways do not 
exceed 6.0 foot-candles. 

 
2. Luminaires used for the sole purpose of illuminating a building 

façade: 
 

a. May be up to 1.5 foot-candles averaged over each 
respective building façade face. 

 
b. Shall be located on the building. 

 
c. Light generated from said fixtures shall be downward 

directed and appropriately shielded so that no light is 
emitted beyond the building facade. 

 
d. Shall strictly adhere to the reduced lighting clause 

outlined in 54.60(A)(7). 
 

D. Signage 
 

1. Lighting may be used to illuminate signs, subject to Section 
55.150. 

 
     

 

SECTION V. EFFECTIVE DATE AND REPEAL.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances 

inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed.  This Ordinance shall take 

effect upon publication after adoption in accordance with State law. 

 
       DUSTY FARMER, CLERK 
       OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 



 

 

 
April 20, 2020 
 
 
Mtg Date:   April 28, 2020 
 
To:  Oshtemo Charter Township Board  
 
From:  Julie Johnston, AICP, Consultant 
  Iris Lubbert, AICP, Planning Director 
 
Subject: Setback Provisions Ordinance – First Reading 
 
 
Objective: 
Consideration of the Setback Provisions Ordinance for first reading. 
 
Background: 
Recently, there was some concern about how the Township was regulating accessory buildings on 
residential properties.  Specifically, where they were permitted to be located on a parcel, lot, or building 
site.  After a careful review of the Accessory Buildings and Setback Ordinances, it was determined that 
some amendments were needed to ensure the two regulations worked in concert.   
 
The proposed amendments to the Setback Provisions Ordinance were reviewed by the Township Attorney 
and Zoning Administrator to ensure the changes resolved the regulatory concerns for accessory buildings.  
The Planning Commission has reviewed the amendments and after holding a public hearing on December 
12th made a motion to forward the draft Setback Provisions Ordinance to the Township Board with a 
recommendation of approval.  
 
Summary of Proposed Amendments: 
Attached are the proposed changes to Section 50.60: Setback Provisions, B. Agricultural and Residence 
Districts.  The majority of the modifications are organizational, allowing the ordinance to be more 
readable.  The main changes are as follows: 
 

• The term “primary structure” was added to the setback requirements.  Without this clarification, 
it was ambiguous as to whether accessory structures would be allowed in the front yard. 

 
• The term “structure” as added to the setback regulations for accessory uses.  A structure is clearly 

defined in the Zoning Ordinance, assisting with clarity. 
 

• A reference to Section 57.100 was added to assist readers with understanding there are additional 
requirements for accessory buildings. 

 
Thank you. 
 
Attachments: Proposed Amendments (denoted in red) to the Setback Ordinance, Planning Commission 
Minutes excerpt– 12/12/19  



DRAFT

Page 1 

50.60 SETBACK PROVISIONS

B. Agricultural and Residence Districts, which shall include the In “AG” Agricultural Districts, “RR”
Residence Rural Residential Districts, “R-1” Residence Districts, “R-2” Residence Districts, “R-3”
Residence Districts, “R-5” Residence Districts, “R-C” Residential, Conservation  Districts and with
respect to buildings having two stories or less in “R-4” Residence Districts.

1. Front yard setbacks for primary structures.

a. A setback of 30-feet shall be required there shall be a setback from all street rights-of-way lines
and outlots and/or planned future public street extensions of not less than 30 feet for all
buildings unless a larger setback is otherwise required. In the Township Zoning Ordinance or
the

b. If a new building primary structure is constructed within 300 feet of a building existing on the
effective date of this Ordinance provision (December 24, 1966) which is closer than the 30-
foot setback requirement, in which case such the setback may be decreased according to the
schedule set forth in Section 50.60.A hereof.

c. If the a new building primary structure is constructed within 100 feet of a building existing on
the effective date of this Ordinance provision which is further than the 30-foot setback
requirement, the minimum setback requirement shall be equal to the average of the closest
existing buildings on either side of the new building.

2. Interior side and rear yard setbacks for primary structures. 

a. "AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Rural Residential Residence Districts, "R-1" Residence Districts,
"R-2" Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, and "R-C" Residential, Conservation
Districts:

i. The minimum setback distance between any primary structure building, pools, and
associated decks whether attached or detached and any interior side property line in the
"AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Residence Districts, "R-1" Residence Districts, "R-2" 
Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, and "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts
shall be ten feet for all buildings, pools, and associated decks whether attached or
detached unless a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.

ii. The minimum setback distance between any primary structure building, pools, and
associated decks whether attached or detached and any rear property line in the "AG"
Agricultural Districts, "RR" Residence Districts, "R-1" Residence Districts, "R-2" Residence
Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, and "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts shall be
not less  than 15 feet unless a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning
Ordinance.

b. "R- 5" Residence Districts, and, with respect to buildings having two stories or less in "R-4"
Residence Districts:

i. The minimum setback distance between any building and any rear or interior side property
line in the "R- 5" Residence Districts, and, with respect to buildings having two stories or
less in "R-4" Residence Districts, shall be ten feet or the height of the abutting side of the
building at its highest point as measured from the grade of the property line, whichever is
greater.



DRAFT

Page 2 

c. The setbacks for buildings exceeding two stories in the "R-4" Residence Districts are set forth
in Section 50.60.C.

d. The rear and interior side property line setbacks for nonresidential buildings in the above
zoning districts shall satisfy the requirements of Section 50.60.C.

3. Accessory buildings

a. Accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet shall be set back from interior side and rear
property lines a minimum of ten feet or the height of the accessory building at its highest point
as measured from the grade of the property line, whichever is greater, unless a larger setback
is otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.

b. The minimum setback distance between any Accessory building not exceeding 200 square feet
in area and shall be set back from any interior side and rear or interior side property lines in 
the "AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Residence Districts, "R-1" Residence Districts, "R-2"
Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, "R-4" Residence Districts, "R-5" Residence
Districts, and "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts shall be a minimum of three feet, unless
a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.

c. Reference Section 57.100 for additional accessory building requirements.

4. Essential services. In "AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Residence Districts, "R-1" Residence Districts,
"R-2" Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, "R-4" Residence Districts, "R-5" Residence
Districts, and "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts there shall be a setback of not less than 25
feet from all street right-of-way lines and outlots and/or planned future public street extensions
for all parcels, lots or building sites with buildings or regulator stations for essential services unless
a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.

5. Separation between buildings. With respect to residential buildings of four dwelling units or less,
there shall be a 20-foot separation between buildings located on the same parcel, lot, or building
site (except buildings accessory thereto), unless otherwise required in the Township Zoning 
Ordinance. Separation shall be measured in the same manner as a building setback.

6. Lawful nonconforming residential buildings existing as of the date March 11, 1996. Any residential
building constructed as of the date of March 11, 1996, which is set back less than the distance
required by Section 50.60.A or Section 50.60.B (whichever is applicable) from the street right-of-
way lines shall be considered a lawful nonconforming structure under Section 63.40 for purposes
of the application and enforcement of the setback provisions of Sections 50.60.A and 50.60.B.
Structures rendered lawfully nonconforming by this section shall not be utilized to decrease the
setback required under the reduction schedule contained within Section 50.60.A.



 

7 
 

 Chairperson VanderWeele asked Ms. Johnston for her presentation on the next 
agenda item. 
 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: RESIDENTIAL SETBACK ORDINANCE 
CONSIDERATION OF THE DRAFT RESIDENTIAL SETBACK ORDINANCE FOR 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE TOWNSHIP BOARD 
 
 Ms. Johnston reported there was concern recently about how the Township was 
regulating accessory buildings on residential properties, specifically, where they were 
permitted to be located on a parcel, lot, or building site.  After a careful review of the 
Accessory Buildings and Setback Ordinances, it was determined some amendments 
were needed to ensure the two regulations worked in concert.   
 
 She explained a goal was to make the ordinance more readable and that the 
main changes proposed were: 
 

• The term “primary structure” was added to the setback requirements.  Without 
this clarification, it was ambiguous as to whether accessory structures would be 
allowed in the front yard. 

 

• The term “structure” as added to the setback regulations for accessory uses.  A 
structure is clearly defined in the Zoning Ordinance, assisting with clarity. 

 

• A reference to Section 57.100 was added to assist readers with understanding 
there are additional requirements for accessory buildings. 

 
The amended ordinance was reviewed by the Township Attorney and Zoning 
Administrator to ensure the changes resolved the regulatory concerns for accessory 
buildings.  The Planning Commission reviewed the amendments at their October 10th 
meeting.  No additional changes were requested at that time. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said at the conclusion of the public hearing the Planning 
Commission might consider a motion to forward the amended Ordinance to the 
Township Board. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked if there were questions for Ms. Johnston. 
 
 Ms. Smith asked for clarification of 1. B. 
 
 Ms. Johnston explained the goal was to maintain uniformity in setbacks for 
structures in existence on the effective date of this ordinance even if they don’t meet the 
required 30 foot setback. 
 



8 

She indicated “primary structure” in the R zoning code means “principal building” 
which could be a barn if no home is on the property. She also clarified setback in 
agricultural and residential circumstances is measured from the road right-of-way.  

Hearing no further comments from board members, Chairperson VanderWeele 
opened a public hearing. After determining there were no members of the public who 
wished to address this issue, and that there were no further comments from board 
members, he asked for a motion. 

Ms. Maxwell made a motion to approve the draft of the Setback Provisions 
Ordinance 50.60 as presented and to forward it to the Township Board. Ms. Farmer 
supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 

Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next item on the agenda and asked Ms. 
Johnston for her presentation. 

OLD BUSINESS 

a. Draft Livestock and Honey Bees Ordinance review

Ms. Johnston said at the Township Board first reading of the amended Keeping
of Livestock and Honey Bees Ordinance, two questions were posed: 

1. How large can the bee hives be?
2. Why can’t hives be placed in the front yard?

After some discussion among Board members, it was decided the draft
Ordinance should be returned to the Planning Commission to allow them to consider 
these questions and any potential amendments. 

She explained staff made the following changes for the Planning Commission to 
deliberate: 

1. The term “colonies” was inserted to replace “hives” in the acreage requirement
for bees.  One colony will likely live in three hive boxes, making the use of the
term “hive” difficult when determining how many are allowed per property.

2. The acreage requirement for bee colonies was removed from the acreage
requirements for animals and given its own subheading.  The acreage
allowances for animals has minimum requirements for each animal.  As an
example, a 5-acre parcel would allow 2 acres for 2 horses, 1.5 acres for six
sheep, and 1.5 acres for seven chickens.  We did not expect bee colonies to fall
into these acreage exclusion requirements.  On 5 acres, a property owner could
have the animals noted above, plus the allotted number of hives.

3. All buildings and structures would now be required to follow the Accessory



OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION

RECOMMENDATION OF THE OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP PLANNING
COMMISSION RESULTING FROM A PUBLIC HEARING CONDUCTED ON
DECEMBER 12,2OI9

The Oshtemo Charter Township Planning Commission hereby recommends APPROVAL of the
following amendment to Article 50, Schedule of Regulations, by the revision of Section 50.60 Setback
Provisions, Paragraph B of the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Ordinance:

SEE ATTACHMENT

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PLANNING

Date: December 12,2079
W. Porter

Township Attorney

Final Action by Oshtemo Charter Township Board

APPROVED

DENIED

REFERRED BACK TO PLANNING COMMISSION



50.60 Setback Provisions

B. Agricultural and Residence Districts, which shall include theh"AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" n€sid€n€e

Rural Residential District5, "R-1" Residence Districts, "R-2" Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, "R-

5" Residence Districts, "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts and with-resp€€++e buildings having two
stories or less in "R-4" Residence Distrlcts.

1. Front yard setbacks for primary structures

A setback of 3o-feet shall be required tlere+halke-a+e+bac* from all street rights-of-way +i{a€s

andoutlotsand/orplannedfuturepublicstreetextension5ffi
gr*ilaings unless a larger setback is otherwise required. tlq+h€-+etyn5hip-Zening-srdinaf,€€-€+
the

lf a new building primary structure is constructed within 300 feet of a building existing on the
effective date of this ordinance pr€yisi€€ (December 24, L966| which is closer than the 30-

foot setback requirement, i+r#hi€kasHu€h the setback may be decreased according to the

schedule set forth in Section 50.60.A h€+e€f.

lf tle a new building primary structure is constructed within 100 feet of a building existing on

the effective date of this Ordinance pr€yisief, which is further than the 3o-foot setback

requirement, the minimum setback requirement shall be equal to the average of the closest

existing buildings on either side of the new building.

2. lnterior side and rear yard setbacks for primary structures.

"AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Rural ResidentialResiden€e Districtt "R-1" Residence Districtt
"R-2" Residence Districtt "R-3" Residence Districts, and "R-C" Residential, conservation
District5:

a

b

.

The minimum setback distance between any primary structure building, pools, and

associated decks whether attached or detached and any interior side property line ifl
the "A6" ngrieultural Distri€ts, "RR" Residen€e Distri€ts, "R l" Residen€e Distri€tsr "R 3"

ietl
Dist+kts shall be ten feet fer all buildings, peels, and asse€iated de€ks whether
at+a€M€r4€+a€h€C unless a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township
Zoning Ordinance.

The minimum setback distance between any primary structure buildi{cg, pools, and

associated decks whether attached or detached and any rear property llne in the "A6"

ien
gkt+kts shall be n€t-less-+h€fi 15 feet unless a larger setback is otherwise required in

the Township Zoning Ordinance.

"R- 5" Residence Districts, and, lvith+e5p€+*e buildings having two stories or less in "R-4"

Residence Districts:

ATTACHMENT

c.

a.

t.

b.



The minimum setback distance between any building and any rear or interior side

property line
tws steries er less in "R 4" Residen€e Districts, shall be ten feet or the helght of the

abutting slde of the building at its highest point as measured from the Srade of the
property line, whichever is greater.

The setbacks for buildings exceeding two stories in the "R-4" Residence Districts are set forth in
Section 50.60.C.

d The rear and interior slde property line setbacks for nonresidential buildings in the above

zoning districts shall satisfy the requirements of Section 50.60.C.

3. Accessorystructures.

Accessory Uuilgings structures exceeding 200 square feet shall be set back from interior side

and rear property lines a minimum of ten feet or the height of the accessory building at its highest
polnt as measured from the grade of the property line, whichever is greater, unless a larger

setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning ordinance.

c

a

The minimum setbaek dl'tan€€ between any Accessory builCirg structures not exceeding 200

square feet *+-+remnd shall be set back from e+y interior side and rear €r-i€t€+i€+-sid€
property lines in the "A€" Agri€sltural Distri€ts, "RR" Residen€e Bistri€ts, "R 1" Residen€e

a minimum of three
feet, unless a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.

c. Reference Section 57.100 for additional accessory building requirements

4. Essential services. ln "AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Residence Districts, "R-1" Residence Districts, "R-

2" Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, "R-4" Residence Districts, "R-5" Residence Districtt
and "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts there shall be a setback of not less than 25 feet from all

street right-of-way lines and outlots and/or planned future public street extensions for all parcels, lots
or building sites with buildings or regulator stations for essential services unless a larger setback is

otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.

5. Separation between buildings. With respect to residential buildings of four dwelling units or
less, there shall be a 2O-foot separation between buildings located on the same parcel, lot, or
building site (except buildings accessory thereto), unless otherwise requlred in the Township

Zoning Ordinance. Separation shall be measured in the same manner as a building setback.

6. Lawful nonconforming residential buildings existing as of thedateMarch 11,1996.Any
residential building constructed as of the date of March 77, L996, which is set back less than
the distance required by Section 50.60.4 or Section 50.60.B (whichever is applicable) from the
street right-of-way lines shall be considered a lawful nonconforming structure under Section
63.40 for purposes of the application and enforcement of the setback provisions of Sections
50.50.A and 50.60.8. Structures rendered lawfully nonconforming by this section shall not be
utilized to decrease the setback required under the reduction schedule contained within
Section 50.60.A.

b



1 
 

 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO.  ____ 
 
 Adopted:  _________________,2020 
 
 Effective:  ________________, 2020 
 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE  
 
 
 An Ordinance to amend Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Ordinance Article 50, Schedule of 

Regulations, Section 50.60 Setback Provisions, Paragraph B.  This Ordinance repeals all Ordinances or 

parts of Ordinances in conflict. 

 
 
 
 
 
 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 ORDAINS: 
 
 
 
 
 
SECTION I. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 50 SCHEDULE OF 

REGULATIONS, SECTION 50.60 SETBACK PROVISIONS.  Article 50 Schedule of 

Regulations, Section 50.60 Setback Provisions, Paragraph B is hereby amended to read 

as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 50 SCHEDULE OF REGULATIONS 

 
Section 50.60 SETBACK PROVISONS 
 

B. Agricultural and Residence Districts, which shall include the “AG” Agricultural Districts, 
“RR” Rural Residential Districts, “R-1” Residence Districts, “R-2” Residence Districts, “R-
3” Residence Districts, “R-5” Residence Districts, “R-C” Residential, Conservation  
Districts and buildings having two stories or less in “R-4” Residence Districts. 

 



2 
 

1. Front yard setbacks for primary structures. 
 

a. A setback of 30-feet shall be required from all street rights-of-way and 
outlots and/or planned future public street extensions unless a larger 
setback is otherwise required.  

 
b. If a new primary structure is constructed within 300 feet of a building 

existing on the effective date of this Ordinance (December 24, 1966) 
which is closer than the 30-foot setback requirement, the setback may 
be decreased according to the schedule set forth in Section 50.60.A.  
 

c. If a new primary structure is constructed within 100 feet of a building 
existing on the effective date of this Ordinance which is further than the 
30-foot setback requirement, the minimum setback requirement shall 
be equal to the average of the closest existing buildings on either side of 
the new building. 

 
2. Interior side and rear yard setbacks for primary structures.   

 
a. "AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Rural Residential Districts, "R-1" 

Residence Districts, "R-2" Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, 
and "R-C" Residential, Conservation Districts: 

 
i. The minimum setback distance between any primary structure,  

pools, and associated decks whether attached or detached and 
any interior side property unless a larger setback is otherwise 
required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.  

 
ii. The minimum setback distance between any primary structure, 

pools, and associated decks whether attached or detached and 
any rear property shall be 15 feet unless a larger setback is 
otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance.  

 
b. "R- 5" Residence Districts, and buildings having two stories or less in "R-

4" Residence Districts: 
 

i. The minimum setback distance between any building and any 
rear or interior side property line shall be ten feet or the height 
of the abutting side of the building at its highest point as 
measured from the grade of the property line, whichever is 
greater.  

 
c. The setbacks for buildings exceeding two stories in the "R-4" Residence 

Districts are set forth in Section 50.60.C.  
 

d. The rear and interior side property line setbacks for nonresidential 
buildings in the above zoning districts shall satisfy the requirements of 
Section 50.60.C. 

 



3 
 

 
 
 
 

 
3. Accessory structures. 

 
a. Accessory structures exceeding 200 square feet shall be set back from 

interior side and rear property lines a minimum of ten feet or the height 
of the accessory building at its highest point as measured from the 
grade of the property line, whichever is greater, unless a larger setback 
is otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance. 

 
b. Accessory structures not exceeding 200 square feet shall be set back 

from interior side and rear property lines a minimum of three feet, 
unless a larger setback is otherwise required in the Township Zoning 
Ordinance.  

 
c. Reference Section 57.100 for additional accessory building 

requirements. 
 

4.  Essential services. In "AG" Agricultural Districts, "RR" Residence Districts, "R-1" 
Residence Districts, "R-2" Residence Districts, "R-3" Residence Districts, "R-4" 
Residence Districts, "R-5" Residence Districts, and "R-C" Residential, 
Conservation Districts there shall be a setback of not less than 25 feet from all 
street right-of-way lines and outlots and/or planned future public street 
extensions for all parcels, lots or building sites with buildings or regulator 
stations for essential services unless a larger setback is otherwise required in 
the Township Zoning Ordinance. 

 
5.  Separation between buildings. With respect to residential buildings of four 

dwelling units or less, there shall be a 20-foot separation between buildings 
located on the same parcel, lot, or building site (except buildings accessory 
thereto), unless otherwise required in the Township Zoning Ordinance. 
Separation shall be measured in the same manner as a building setback. 

 
6. Lawful nonconforming residential buildings existing as of the date March 11, 

1996. Any residential building constructed as of the date of March 11, 1996, 
which is set back less than the distance required by Section 50.60.A or Section 
50.60.B (whichever is applicable) from the street right-of-way lines shall be 
considered a lawful nonconforming structure under Section 63.40 for purposes 
of the application and enforcement of the setback provisions of Sections 
50.60.A and 50.60.B. Structures rendered lawfully nonconforming by this 
section shall not be utilized to decrease the setback required under the 
reduction schedule contained within Section 50.60.A. 

 
 
 
 



4 
 

SECTION II. EFFECTIVE DATE AND REPEAL.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances inconsistent with 

this Ordinance are hereby repealed.  This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication 

after adoption in accordance with State law. 

       DUSTY FARMER, CLERK 
       OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 



 

 

 
 
April 20, 2020 
 
 
Mtg Date:   April 28, 2020 
 
To:  Oshtemo Charter Township Board  
 
From:  Iris Lubbert, AICP, Planning Director 
 
Subject: Accessory Buildings Ordinance- First Reading 
 
 
Objective: 
Consideration of the Accessory Buildings Ordinance for first reading. 
 
Background:  
Recently, there have been concerns about how the Township has been regulating accessory 
buildings on residential properties, specifically where they were permitted to be located on a 
parcel, lot, or building site. After review of the Accessory Buildings and Setback Ordinances, it was 
determined that amendments were needed to clarify where accessory buildings would be 
permitted and ensure that the two regulations worked in concert.  The Planning Commission 
reviewed and made a motion to recommend approval of the Setback Ordinance amendments to 
the Township Board at their regular December 12, 2019 meeting and, after discussion, directed 
staff to develop a new version of the Accessory Building code with more structure and detail. Areas 
of interest, in addition to placement, included: height, the treatment of accessory buildings on 
lots/building sites vs. parcels, and the overall permitted square footage of detached buildings 
based on lot size.  
 
Based on direction provided from the Planning Commission, staff restructured the Accessory 
Building Ordinance, further amended sections of the code for clarity, and added language to 
address the noted areas of interest. Drafts of the proposed code language were reviewed by the 
Planning Commission at their regular January 30th and February 13th meetings. After discussion and 
some amendments, the Commission agreed to move forward with the proposed changes to 
Section 57.100 and set a Public Hearing for their March 12th meeting. A notice for the Public Hearing 
was published on Tuesday, February 25, 2020.  
 
The amended ordinance has the support of the Township Attorney, Zoning Administrator, and 
Ordinance Enforcement Officer. In addition, several of the proposed regulations were vetted for 
viability with the Fire Department and Southwest Michigan Building Authority. 
 
After holding a public hearing on March 12th, the Planning Commission made a motion to forward 
the draft Accessory Buildings Ordinance to the Township Board with a recommendation of 



Oshtemo Charter Township Board  
Accessory Buildings Ordinance – First Reading 
04/28/2020 ∙ Page 2 

 
approval. 
 
Summary of Proposed Amendments: 
The proposed amendment reorganizes Section 57.100 into six sections: applicability, restrictions, 
setbacks, size restrictions, height, and application requirements. The goal of this reorganization 
is to help staff and the public easily navigate through the requirements for installing accessory 
buildings in Oshtemo Township. A summary of the requirements outlined in each section is 
provided below. 
 
Applicability: This section outlines what properties this code applies to; in summary all properties 
within a residential zone with a residence as their primary use. It should be noted that properties 
located within the AG, Agricultural District where the structure will be used to support a farming 
operation are exempt. Continuing with previous practice, all accessory buildings over 200 square 
feet will require site plan review and approval. This section also identifies unique types of 
accessory buildings and directs users to other applicable sections of the code.  
 
Restrictions: This section outlines all restrictions related to the use and construction of residential 
accessory buildings. All the requirements outlined in this section are in the previous accessory 
building code or noted in other areas of the code. The goal of this section is to provide one location 
where all restrictions for this type of structure can be found.  
 
Setbacks: This section specifies where accessory buildings can be placed on a lot. Specifically, 
front yard setbacks as side and rear setbacks are addressed in a different section of the code. 
The proposed setback requirement differentiates between properties within a subdivision or site 
condominium and those that are not. There is an understanding that properties that are not 
within a subdivision or site condominium typically are larger and, more often then not, have a 
rural character that needs to be considered. The proposed language would place accessory 
buildings behind a house on a property within a subdivision or site condominiums. In the other 
cases, the accessory building could be placed in front of a home as long as it met that district’s 
principle building setback. A 10-foot separation between structures is also proposed for fire 
safety (to limit exterior fire spread). 
 
Size Restrictions: Currently the zoning code does not have clear size limitations and any proposed 
large accessory building may trigger review by the Zoning Board of Appeals, subject to staff 
discretion. The existing regulations are somewhat subjective. The goal of this section is to provide 
clear standards that can then be applied administratively. The requirements outlined in this 
section pull from other existing areas of the code (ex. allowed percentage lot coverage) and 
previous interpretations or practices. Within site condominiums and subdivisions, the proposed 
code now specifies that the footprint of any residential accessory building cannot be larger than 
the primary structure.  In addition, based on the area of a property, maximum cumulative square-
footages for accessory buildings on a property are proposed. These numbers are based on other 
communities’ standards but have been increased to keep in mind the Townships rural character.  
 



Oshtemo Charter Township Board  
Accessory Buildings Ordinance – First Reading 
04/28/2020 ∙ Page 3 

 
Height: This section specifies how tall any given accessory building can be on a property. Based 
on previous reviews and experiences, the proposed maximum permitted height for an accessory 
building was increased from 25 feet to 30 feet. However, similar to the size restrictions intended 
to protect property values and neighborhood aesthetics, language was added that the height of 
an accessory building could not exceed the height of the principle building within subdivisions or 
site condominiums.   
 
Application Requirements: This last section of 57.100 outlines the details needed for staff to 
complete a site plan review of a building exceeding 200 square feet and ensure that all 
requirements are met. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Attachments:   

Existing Section 57.100: Accessory Buildings  
Proposed Section 57.100: Accessory Buildings Serving a Primary Residence 
Planning Commission Minutes excerpt - 03/12/2020  



Page 1

ZONING ORDINANCE
 

ARTICLE 57
 

57 – MISCELLANEOUS PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS
 

57.100 ACCESSORY BUILDINGS
 

All references to accessory building in this Section shall apply only to residential accessory buildings 
exceeding 200 square feet in area, including private garages, pole buildings, carports and barns/stables. 
This section does not apply to agricultural uses meeting the requirements of Section 4.10.

A. No accessory building shall:
1. Be used for human habitation unless the provisions of Section 50.20.A and the Building Code are 

satisfied.
2. Be used for purposes other than those accessory and customarily incidental to permitted 

residential use of the property by the owner or occupant of same.
3. Be used for any business use or home occupation unless approval is granted pursuant to Section 

48.60 or 49.110.
4. Violate the setback requirements of Section 50.60.
5. Exceed a height of 20 feet on lots, parcels or building sites of 30,000 square feet or less, or a 

height of 25 feet on lots, parcels or building sites larger than 30,000 square feet unless approval 
for same is granted by the Zoning Board of Appeals pursuant to Section 57.100.B. Height shall be 
measured from the abutting grade to the highest point of the building.

6. Precede the dwelling upon the subject property unless approval for same is granted by the 
Zoning Board of Appeals pursuant to Section 57.100.B.

7. Have a width greater than one-third of the lot, building site or parcel width or 24 feet, whichever 
is greater.

B. Accessory Buildings Subject to Site Plan Review and Approval of the Planning Director or Designee:
1. Property is vacant.
2. Aggregate floor area of accessory buildings exceeds ground floor area of dwelling, excluding 

attached garages, covered porches, and breeze ways.
3. Total floor area of all buildings exceeds 20 percent of lot, building site or parcel area.
4. Accessory building is placed between the dwelling and the front property line. For purposes of 

this Section, corner properties shall be considered to have two front property lines.
5. Height exceeds the provisions of Section 57.100.A.5.



Page 2

To ensure harmonious relationships and to minimize conflicts between adjacent uses, the 
Planning Director or designee shall consider the proposed characteristics and uses of the building 
in relation to the following: size of property, size of dwelling, proposed placement on property, 
existing land uses in area and future land uses as reflected in the Master Land Use Plan.

The Planning Director or designee may attach requirements to such accessory building and use 
when it deems necessary to avoid or mitigate adverse impacts on surrounding properties which 
may include a reduction in the size of the building.

The Planning Director or designee shall have the right to refer any proposed accessory building 
to the Zoning Board of Appeals for Site Plan review and approval.

All applications requiring Site Plan review and approval shall be accompanied by a drawing of the 
subject property, drawn to scale, containing the following information:

a. A North arrow and graphic scale.
b. All property lines and their dimensions.
c. Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed structures (including height of all 

proposed accessory buildings) on the subject property and any existing buildings on adjacent 
properties within 50 feet of the subject property.

d. Building elevations including building and roofing materials and color.

An application hereunder shall also include a signed statement setting forth the purpose(s) for which 
the proposed accessory building(s) will be used and a completed Acknowledgment of Zoning 
Restriction, signed by the property owner(s), on a form provided by the Township, indicating that 
the building may not be used for commercial purposes. The Township shall record said Restriction 
following construction of the building. No accessory building allowed pursuant to this subsection 
shall be used for a purpose other than that approved by the Planning Director, Planning Commission 
or Zoning Board of Appeals as appropriate.



 

57.100 Accessory Buildings Serving a Primary Residence 

1. Applicability: 
a. Accessory buildings shall be permitted in all Agricultural and Residential 

zoning districts; which include “AG” Agricultural Districts, “RR” Rural 
Residential Districts, “R-1” Residence District, “R-2” Residence District, “R-
3” Residence District, “R-4” Residence District, “R-5” Residence District, and 
“R-C” Residential Conversion District. 

b. All accessory buildings, unless otherwise expressly outlined by this Section, 
shall meet all the requirements specified herein.  

c. Non-commercial accessory buildings used for the keeping of livestock or 
honeybees shall follow the requirements specified in Section 57.80. 

d. All accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet shall require plan review 
and approval by the Planning Director or their designee.  

e. Any nonconforming accessory building shall be subject to the requirements 
specified in Section 63.40. 

 
2. Restrictions. No accessory building shall: 

a. Be constructed on any property prior to the construction of the principle 
building, unless building permits are obtained for both structures concurrently. 
All detached accessory buildings must be located on the same property where 
the principal permitted use is located. Exception of this clause can be granted 
by the Planning Director or their designee for vacant parcels serving an 
agricultural purpose that meet the requirements of Section 4.10. 

b. Be constructed to encroach into a public utility easement. 
c. Be used for human habitation. 
d. Be used for purposes other than those customarily incidental to the permitted 

principle use of the property. 
e. Be used for any business use or home occupation, unless approval is granted 

by the Planning Commission pursuant to Sections 48.60 or 49.110. 
 

3. Setbacks for all accessory buildings:  
a. Front setbacks 

i. Accessory buildings on properties located within subdivisions or site 
condominiums shall meet the minimum front yard setback requirements 
for principle buildings in their corresponding zoning district, outlined in 
Section 50.60, and shall not be located closer to the street right of way 
then the front line of the property’s principle building.  

ii. Accessory buildings on properties not located within a subdivisions or 
site condominiums shall meet the minimum front yard setback 
requirements for principle buildings in their corresponding zoning 
district, outlined in Section 50.60. 

iii. For the purposes of this Section, corner properties shall be considered 
to have two front property lines.  

b. Interior Side and Rear setbacks are outlined in Section 50.60.B.3. 



 

c. There shall be established a minimum separation of ten feet, as measured wall 
to wall, between any accessory building and any other structure located on the 
property. 
 

4. Size restrictions for all accessory buildings: 
a. The square footage of any accessory building located on a property within a 

subdivision or site condominium shall not exceed the footprint of the livable 
portion of the property’s principle building.  

b. For all lots, parcels, or building sites one acre or less in size, a maximum of 
30% of the property may be covered by structures. This calculation shall 
include the first floor area of all structures on the lot, parcel, or building site 
including the principle building. 

c. The maximum allowable square footage of accessory buildings on lots, parcels, 
or building sites larger than one acre, as measured by the combined gross floor 
area of all detached accessory structures which are located on the property, 
shall be limited as follows: 

 Property area Maximum cumulative 
square footage of all 
detached accessory 

structures on a property  

More than 1 acre but not more than 2 acres 2,000 square feet 

More than 2 acres but not more than 3 acres 3,000 square feet 

More than 3 acres but not more than 5 acres 4,000 square feet 

More than 5 acres but not more than 8 acres 5,000 square feet 

More than 8 acres but not more than 11 acres 6,000 square feet 

More than 11 acres  7,000 square feet 

 
5. Height: 

a. Accessory buildings shall not exceed the height of the principle building on 
properties located within subdivisions or site condominiums. 

b. Accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of 30 feet on properties not 
located within a subdivision or site condominium.  

c. For the purposes of this Section, height shall be measured from the finished 
floor to the top of the roof ridge. 

 



 

6. Application requirements: 
a. Applications for accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet shall be 

accompanied by a drawing of the subject property containing the following 
information:  

i. A north arrow 
ii. All property lines  

iii. Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed structures on the 
property 

iv. Distances of all proposed structures from the property lines and any 
existing structures  

v. Height of all proposed structures on the property 
vi. Height of the principle building on the property 

vii. Use Statement. A statement setting forth the purpose(s) for which the 
proposed accessory building shall be used 

 

 



 

3 
 

  Mr. Vyas made a motion to approve the Minutes of the Meeting of February 27, 
2020 as presented with the requested correction. Ms. Maxwell seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next agenda item. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: ACCESSORY BUILDINGS 
CONSIDERATION OF AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 57.100 – ACCESSORY 
BUILDINGS, FOR RECOMMENDATION TO THE TOWNSHIP BOARD.  
 
 Ms. Lubbert said recently, there have been concerns about how the Township 
has been regulating accessory buildings on residential properties, specifically where 
they were permitted to be located on a parcel, lot, or building site. After review of the 
Accessory Buildings and Setback Ordinances, it was determined that amendments 
were needed to clarify where accessory buildings would be permitted and ensure that 
the two regulations worked in concert.  The Planning Commission reviewed and made a 
motion to recommend approval of the Setback Ordinance amendments to the Township 
Board at their regular December 12, 2019 meeting and, after discussion, directed staff 
to develop a new version of the Accessory Building code with more structure and detail. 
Areas of interest, in addition to placement, included: height, the treatment of accessory 
buildings on lots/building sites vs. parcels, and the overall permitted square footage of 
detached buildings based on lot size.  
 
 She said based on direction from the Commission, staff restructured the 
Accessory Building Ordinance, further amended sections of the code for clarity, and 
added language to address the noted areas of interest. Drafts of the proposed code 
language were reviewed by the Commission at their January 30th and February 13th 
meetings. After discussion and some amendments, the Commission agreed to move 
forward with the proposed changes to Section 57.100 and set a Public Hearing for their 
meeting on March 12th. A notice for the Public Hearing was published on Tuesday, 
February 25, 2020. 
 
 She noted the amended ordinance has the support of the Township Attorney, 
Zoning Administrator, and Ordinance Enforcement Officer. In addition, several of the 
proposed regulations were vetted for viability with the Fire Department and Southwest 
Michigan Building Authority. 
 
 Ms. Lubbert explained the proposed amendment reorganizes Section 57.100 
into six sections: applicability, restrictions, setbacks, size restrictions, height, and 
application requirements. The goal of this reorganization is to help staff and the public 
easily navigate through the requirements for installing accessory buildings in Oshtemo 
Township. She provided a summary of the requirements outlined in each section: 
 
Applicability: This section outlines what properties this code applies to; in summary 
all properties within a residential zone with a residence as their primary use. It should 
be noted that properties located within the AG, Agricultural District where the structure 



 

4 
 

will be used to support a farming operation are exempt. Continuing with previous 
practice, all accessory buildings over 200 square feet will require site plan review and 
approval. This section also identifies unique types of accessory buildings and directs 
users to other applicable sections of the code.  
 
Restrictions: This section outlines all restrictions related to the use and construction of 
residential accessory buildings. All the requirements outlined in this section are in the 
previous accessory building code or noted in other areas of the code. The goal of this 
section is to provide one location where all restrictions for this type of structure can be 
found.  
 
Setbacks: This section specifies where accessory buildings can be placed on a lot. 
Specifically, front yard setbacks as side and rear setbacks are addressed in a different 
section of the code. The proposed setback requirement differentiates between 
properties within a subdivision or site condominium and those that are not. There is an 
understanding that properties that are not within a subdivision or site condominium 
typically are larger and, more often than not, have a rural character that needs to be 
considered. The proposed language would place accessory buildings behind a house 
on a property within a subdivision or site condominiums. The front yard setback would 
be treated the same along the sides of both roads. In the other cases, the accessory 
building could be placed in front of a home as long as it met that district’s principle 
building setback. A 10-foot separation between structures is also proposed for fire 
safety (to limit exterior fire spread). 
 
Size Restrictions: Currently the zoning code does not have clear size limitations and 
any proposed large accessory building may trigger review by the Zoning Board of 
Appeals, subject to staff discretion. The existing regulations are somewhat subjective. 
The goal of this section is to provide clear standards that can then be applied 
administratively. The requirements outlined in this section pull from other existing 
areas of the code (ex. allowed percentage lot coverage) and previous interpretations 
or practices. Within site condominiums and subdivisions, the proposed code now 
specifies that the footprint of any residential accessory building cannot be larger than 
the primary structure.  In addition, based on the area of a property, maximum 
cumulative square-footages for accessory buildings on a property are proposed. 
These numbers are based on other communities’ standards but have been increased 
to keep in mind the Townships rural character.  
 
Height: This section specifies how tall any given accessory building can be on a 
property. Based on previous reviews and experiences, the proposed maximum 
permitted height for an accessory building was increased from 25 feet to 30 feet. 
However, similar to the size restrictions intended to protect property values and 
neighborhood aesthetics, language was added that the height of an accessory 
building could not exceed the height of the principle building within subdivisions or site 
condominiums.   
 
Application requirements: This last section of 57.100 outlines the details needed for 



 

5 
 

staff to complete a site plan review of a building exceeding 200 square feet and ensure 
that all requirements are met. 
   

 The proposed amendments for 57.100 Accessory Buildings Serving a Primary 
Residence were provided. 
 

 Ms. Lubbert recommended the amendments be approved and forwarded to the 
Township Board for approval. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked whether Commissioners had questions for Ms. 
Lubbert. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell asked whether the visuals provided would be included in the 
amendments section for clarification. 
 
 Ms. Lubbert said that had not been her intent but noted that it could be done.  
  

 Chairperson VanderWeele questioned whether 3. C., which mentions a 10 foot 
separation between buildings includes garages that are detached from the house. 
 
 Attorney Porter said the definitions make it clear detached garages are included. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell asked for clarification of the allowed square footage for accessory 
buildings. 
 
 The Chair said as it reads, the term “gross floor area” used to determine the 
allowed size restriction for accessory buildings includes the combined floor area for 
each floor of a multiple floor building. He felt the gross floor area should include only the 
footprint of the building - length by width.  
 
 Ms. Lubbert indicated the original intent was that only the footprint, length by 
width, would be considered as the gross floor area. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele requested the wording reflect that intent. 
 
 Attorney Porter said the “combined gross floor area” should be changed to say 
“first floor of primary structure” to reflect the intent and eliminate confusion. 
 
 Ms. Smith asked how two lots homesteaded together would be treated. 
 
 Attorney Porter said they would be combined for assessing and building 
purposes. 
 
 Ms. Smith wondered whether if the properties were across the street from each 
other that the entire acreage would be treated the same way. 
 



 

6 
 

 Attorney Porter said, in theory, they could cross the road though this 
circumstance is rarer all the time. The right-of-way in some cases is measured from the 
center of the street. 
 
 Ms. Lubbert noted if this issue were to come up a variance could be sought on a 
case by case basis. 
 
 Hearing no further questions, Chairperson VanderWeele moved to public hearing 
and asked if anyone cared to address the Commission. 
 
 Mr. Ken Schneider asked to defer to the covenants of sub-divisions rather than to 
regulate by ordinance. He was pleased the amount of square footage allowed for 
accessory buildings was increased from the original proposal, but thought it should be 
extended further for larger properties. He noted agricultural district 1-A was mentioned. 
 
 Attorney Porter explained that these regulations would only apply to properties in 
the 1-A district if the principal structure on the property was residential. 
 
 Mr. Schneider said regarding the 10-foot clause, if the fire department was 
concerned about how large a fire can get, it seems they would have suggested 
buildings be limited to a certain size. Fire in one 30 x 60 building would be harder to 
fight than two 30 x 40 buildings. As far as setbacks are concerned, he felt it would be 
plausible to allow people to put trees up instead of requirements regarding size or 
height of buildings and wondered if buildings are not visible from the road whether the 
Township should really care. He said he was reading through the proposal in light of the 
future of his property. One of the reasons he chose Oshtemo Township was because of 
the way the ordinances were written. He thinks the way the older ordinance was stated 
allows for more interpretation. The new ordinance is definitely a lot more specific and he 
wondered whether we have to get as detailed as is proposed. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele thanked Mr. Schneider for his comments. Hearing 
nothing further, he closed the public hearing and moved to Commission Deliberations. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell asked whether they are looking at sub-divisions. 
 
 Attorney Porter said there are standards based on where the property is located. 
 
 Ms. Smith said most site condominiums have restrictions on access buildings. 
The Township ordinance would take precedence. 
 
 Attorney Porter said the Township would set minimum requirements. A builder 
could exceed the requirements by increasing the set back or further limiting the size of 
accessory buildings. 
 
 Attorney Porter noted sub-division and site condominium rules often fall by the 
wayside as developers don’t follow proper procedures or associations don’t maintain 



 

7 
 

enforcement. It can become a problem if there are not minimum standards in place by 
ordinance. 
 
 Ms. Lubbert added deeds in subdivisions are only valid for a specific number of 
years and if rules are not enforced by residents they fall by the wayside, so there would 
be no lasting regulations in place without ordinance. 
 
 Mr. Vyas asked if the fire department requirements are based on standards. 
 
 Ms. Lubbert replied that a lot of municipal codes have separation requirements, 
though the requirements vary, frequently from 5 - 12 feet. Our fire department felt 10 
feet is appropriate and the proposed 10 foot separation is also consistent with when the 
building code triggers fire rated wall requirements. 
 
 Attorney Porter added that when a 10 foot distance is maintained, the fire rated 
wall requirements aren’t activated, the cost to a homeowner is reduced. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele called for a motion. 
 
 Mr. Vyas made a motion to approve the Amendment to Section 57.100 
Accessory Buildings as presented with the agreed upon change of wording in number 
4,b from “combined gross floor area” to “first floor area”. Ms. Maxwell seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next item on the agenda. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 Ms. Maxwell, in response to the earlier comment by Ms. Miller, explained she 
was involved with the ITC property issue, but that the Fruit Belt Trail is a different 
situation. The Township is actually purchasing property. ITC didn’t want to sell their 
land, so it’s a whole different story. When the Township owns the property, then they 
can set the rules, enforce them and provide maintenance.  
  
OLD BUSINESS 
 
 There was no old business to consider. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
 Ms. Lubbert said the Township was working on how to address the Corona Virus. 
She will keep Commissioners up to date as that moves forward. 
  
 
 
 



OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION

RECOMMENDATION OF THE OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP PLANNING
COMMISSION RESULTING FROM A PUBLIC HEARING CONDUCTED ON
MARCH I2,2O2O

The Oshtemo Charter Township Planning Commission hereby recommends APPROVAL of the
following amendment to Article 57 Miscellaneous Protection Requirements by the replacement of
Section 57.100 Accessory Buildings of the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Ordinance:

SEE ATTACHMENT

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP
PLANNING

Date: March12,2020 By:
W. Porter

Attomey

Final Action by Oshtemo Charter Township Board

APPROVED

DENIED

REFERRED BACK TO PLANNING COMMISSION



Accessory buildings shall be permitted in all Agricultural and Residential zoning
districts; which include "AG" Agricultural Districts. "RR" Rural Residential Districts,
"R-1" Residence District. "R-2" Residence District, "R-3" Residence District, "R-4"
Residence District, "R-5" Residence District, and "R-C" Residential Conservation
District.

All accessory buildings, unless otherwise expressly outlined by this Section, shall meet
all the requirements specified herein.

All accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet shall require plan review and
approval by the Planning Director or their designee.

Any nonconforming accessory building shall be subject to the requirements specified in
Section 63.40.

2. Restrictions. No accessory building shall:

Be constructed on any property prior to the construction ofthe principle building,
unless building permits are obtained for both structures concurrently. All detached
accessory buildings must be located on the sarne property where the principal permitted
use is located. Exception of this clause can be granted by the Planning Director or their
designee for vacant parcels serving an agricultural purpose that meet the requirements
of Section 4.10.

ATTACHMENT

ARTICLE 57 M ISCELLANEOUS PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS

Section 57.100 ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SERVING A PRIMARY RESIDENCE

1. Applicability:

a

3

a

b

c

d

Be used for purposes other than those customarily incidental to the permitted principle
use of the property.

Be used for any business use or home occupation, unless approval is granted by the
Planning Commission pursuant to Sections 48.60 or 49. I 10.

Setbacks for all accessory buildings:

a. Front setbacks

Non-commercial accessory buildings used for the keeping of livestock or honeybees
shall follow the requirements specified in Section 57.80.

Be constructed to encroach into a public utility easement.

Be used for human habitation.

b.

c.

d.

e,



l. Accessory buildings on properties located within subdivisions or site
condominiums shall meet the minimum front yard setback requirements for
principle buildings in their corresponding zoning district, outlined in Section
50.60. and shall not be located closer to the street right-of-way than the front
line of the property's principle building.

ll. Accessory buildings on properties not located within subdivisions or site
condominiums shall meet the minimum front yard setback requirements for
principle buildings in their corresponding zoning district, outlined in Section
50.60.

l1l. For the purposes of this Section, corner properties shall be considered to have
two front property lines.

b. Interior Side and Rear setbacks are outlined in Section 50.60.8.3

There shall be established a minimum separation of ten feet, as measured wall to wall,
between any accessory building and any other structure located on the property.

4. Size restrictions for all accessory buildings:

a. The square footage of any accessory building located on a property within a subdivision
or site condominium shall not exceed the footprint of the livable portion of the
property's principle building.

For all lots, parcels, or building sites one acre or less in size, a maximum of 30% of the
property may be covered by structures. This calculation shall include the first floor area
of all structures on the lot, parcel, or building site including the principle building.

The maximum allowable square footage of accessory buildings on lots, parcels, or
building sites larger than one acre, as measured by the combined gross floor area of all
detached accessory structures which are located on the property, shall be limited as

follows:

c

b.

c

Property area Maximum cumulative square
footage of all detached

accessory
structures on a property

More than I acre but not more than 2 acres 2,000 square feet

More than 2 acres but not more than 3 acres 3,000 square feet

More than 3 acres but not more than 5 acres 4,000 square feet

More than 5 acres but not more than 8 acres 5,000 square feet

More than 8 acres but not more than I I acres 6,000 square feet

More than l1 acres 7,000 square feet



5. Height:

Accessory buildings shall not exceed the height ofthe principle building on properties
located within subdivisions or site condominiums.

Accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of30 feet on properties not located
within a subdivision or site condominium.

For the purposes of this Section, height shall be measured from the finished floor to the
top ofthe roof ridge.

6. Application requirements:

Applications for accessory buildings exceeding 200 square leet shall be accompanied
by a drawing ofthe subject prope(y containing the foltowing information:

a

b

c

a

ll.

ll l.

tv.

vl.

vll.

A north arrow

All property lines

Location and dimensions ofall existing and proposed structures on the property

Distances ofall proposed structures from the property lines and any existing
structures

Height of all proposed structures on the property

Height ofthe principle building on the property

Use Statement. A statement setting forth the purpose(s) for which the proposed
accessory building shall be used



 
 
 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO.  ____ 
 
 Adopted:  _________________,2020 
 
 Effective:  ________________, 2020 
 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE  
 
 
 An Ordinance to amend Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Ordinance Article 57, Miscellaneous 

Protection Requirements, by the replacement of Section 57.100 Accessory Buildings.  This Ordinance 

repeals all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 ORDAINS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SECTION I. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 57 MISCELLANEOUS 

PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS, SECTION 57.100 ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SERVING A 

PRIMARY RESIDENCE.  Article 57 Miscellaneous Protection Requirements, Section 57.100 

Accessory Buildings is hereby amended and replaced to read as follows: 



 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 57 MISCELLANEOUS PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS 

 
Section 57.100 ACCESSORY BUILDINGS SERVING A PRIMARY RESIDENCE 
 
1. Applicability: 

 
a. Accessory buildings shall be permitted in all Agricultural and Residential 

zoning districts; which include “AG” Agricultural Districts, “RR” Rural 
Residential Districts, “R-1” Residence District, “R-2” Residence District, “R-3” 
Residence District, “R-4” Residence District, “R-5” Residence District, and “R-
C” Residential Conservation District. 
 

b. All accessory buildings, unless otherwise expressly outlined by this Section, 
shall meet all the requirements specified herein.  
 

c. Non-commercial accessory buildings used for the keeping of livestock or 
honeybees shall follow the requirements specified in Section 57.80. 
 

d. All accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet shall require plan review and 
approval by the Planning Director or their designee.  
 

e. Any nonconforming accessory building shall be subject to the requirements 
specified in Section 63.40. 

 
2. Restrictions. No accessory building shall: 

 
a. Be constructed on any property prior to the construction of the principle 

building, unless building permits are obtained for both structures concurrently. 
All detached accessory buildings must be located on the same property where 
the principal permitted use is located. Exception of this clause can be granted by 
the Planning Director or their designee for vacant parcels serving an agricultural 
purpose that meet the requirements of Section 4.10. 
 

b. Be constructed to encroach into a public utility easement. 
 

c. Be used for human habitation. 
 

d. Be used for purposes other than those customarily incidental to the permitted 
principle use of the property. 
 

e. Be used for any business use or home occupation, unless approval is granted by 
the Planning Commission pursuant to Sections 48.60 or 49.110. 

 



 
 
 

 
3. Setbacks for all accessory buildings:  

 
a. Front setbacks 

 
i. Accessory buildings on properties located within subdivisions or site 

condominiums shall meet the minimum front yard setback requirements 
for principle buildings in their corresponding zoning district, outlined in 
Section 50.60, and shall not be located closer to the street right-of-way 
than the front line of the property’s principle building.  
 

ii. Accessory buildings on properties not located within subdivisions or site 
condominiums shall meet the minimum front yard setback requirements 
for principle buildings in their corresponding zoning district, outlined in 
Section 50.60. 

 
iii. For the purposes of this Section, corner properties shall be considered to 

have two front property lines.  
 

b. Interior Side and Rear setbacks are outlined in Section 50.60.B.3. 
 

c. There shall be established a minimum separation of ten feet, as measured wall to 
wall, between any accessory building and any other structure located on the 
property. 
 

4. Size restrictions for all accessory buildings: 
 
a. The square footage of any accessory building located on a property within a 

subdivision or site condominium shall not exceed the footprint of the livable 
portion of the property’s principle building.  

 
b. For all lots, parcels, or building sites one acre or less in size, a maximum of 30% 

of the property may be covered by structures. This calculation shall include the 
first floor area of all structures on the lot, parcel, or building site including the 
principle building. 

 
c. The maximum allowable square footage of accessory buildings on lots, parcels, 

or building sites larger than one acre, as measured by the combined gross floor 
area of all detached accessory structures which are located on the property, shall 
be limited as follows: 
 



 Property area Maximum cumulative 
square footage of all 
detached accessory 

structures on a property  

More than 1 acre but not more than 2 acres 2,000 square feet 

More than 2 acres but not more than 3 acres 3,000 square feet 

More than 3 acres but not more than 5 acres 4,000 square feet 

More than 5 acres but not more than 8 acres 5,000 square feet 

More than 8 acres but not more than 11 acres 6,000 square feet 

More than 11 acres  7,000 square feet 

 
5. Height: 

 
a. Accessory buildings shall not exceed the height of the principle building on 

properties located within subdivisions or site condominiums. 
 
b. Accessory buildings shall not exceed a height of 30 feet on properties not 

located within a subdivision or site condominium.  
 
c. For the purposes of this Section, height shall be measured from the finished 

floor to the top of the roof ridge. 
 

6. Application requirements: 
 

a. Applications for accessory buildings exceeding 200 square feet shall be 
accompanied by a drawing of the subject property containing the following 
information:  
 

i. A north arrow 
 

ii. All property lines 
 

iii. Location and dimensions of all existing and proposed structures on the 
property 

 
iv. Distances of all proposed structures from the property lines and any 

existing structures  
 



v. Height of all proposed structures on the property 
 

vi. Height of the principle building on the property 
 

vii. Use Statement. A statement setting forth the purpose(s) for which the 
proposed accessory building shall be used 

 
 
 
SECTION II. EFFECTIVE DATE AND REPEAL.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances inconsistent with 

this Ordinance are hereby repealed.  This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication 

after adoption in accordance with State law. 

       DUSTY FARMER, CLERK 
       OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 





 

1 

 

 

 

 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

 

 Adopted: ____________ 

 

 Effective: ____________ 

 

 

An Ordinance to provide for the hardship financing or deferral of the financial obligation 

to connect to the wastewater collection system of the Oshtemo Charter Township in situations 

where Property Owner(s) establish by objective evidence that it will constitute an undue 

financial hardship to pay or fully pay for the sewer system connection fees or the private 

plumbing expense to connect to the wastewater collection system as required by Oshtemo 

Charter Township Wastewater Service Ordinance No. 208. 

 

  

 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

 

 KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 

 ORDAINS: 

 

 

 

SECTION I.  NAME.  This Ordinance shall be known and cited as the Oshtemo Charter 

Township Public Sanitary Sewer Hardship Financing or Deferment 

Ordinance.  

 

SECTION II.  PURPOSE.  

 

A. To enact an Ordinance under Public Act 368 of 1978 Public Health Code 

(MCL 333.12756 et seq.) allowing for hardship financing or deferment of 

the sewer system connection fees and/or the private plumbing expense in 

cases where hardship prevents the Owners of the premises from paying for 

the public or private connections to the available sewer system.  

 



 

2 

 

 

B. To establish a Hardship Advisory Review Committee (HARC) to review 

and recommend Property Owner(s) to be considered for hardship 

financing or deferment under this Ordinance.  

 

C. To establish procedures for the connection of premises to the sewer 

system by the Township for those who qualify for a hardship financing or  

deferment. 

 

SECTION III.  DEFINITIONS.  For purposes of this Ordinance, the following words, 

terms and phrases when used in this Ordinance shall have the following 

meanings ascribed to them in this Section:  

 

1. Deferment: the postponement of all or a part of the annual 

mortgage payment owed to the Township on an Installment 

Payment Mortgage Agreement for Sewer or a delay in connecting 

to the public sanitary sewer. 

 

2. Premise: any lot, parcel, building site from which contains a 

building from which sanitary sewer originates for which sewer 

services are available and required by law to be served. 

 

3. Private Plumbing Expense: the estimated cost of the installation of 

all necessary sewage disposal facilities on the property of the 

applicant or Property Owner(s) for hardship. It means and includes 

any person who has a legal, possessory interest in a lot, parcel or 

building site, which interest includes the legal obligation to assume 

the expenses of sewer connection expense charges. 

 

4. Property Owner(s) Hardship: those Property Owner(s) falling 

below the income and asset limits set forth in Section IV of this 

Ordinance. 

 

5. Sewer System Connection Fees: the connection fees charged by 

Oshtemo Charter Township. 

 

6. Sanitary Sewer System: any municipally operated sewage 

collection system serving premises within Oshtemo Charter 

Township. 

 

SECTION IV.  QUALIFYING STANDARDS FOR HARDSHIP FINANCING OR 

HAR[DSHIP DEFERMENT. The standards for qualifying for hardship 

financing or hardship deferment shall be as follows:  



 

3 

 

 

A. Application Limitations. Before submitting an application for hardship 

financing or deferment, each Property Owner(s) must demonstrate that 

they do not qualify for assistance from the State of Michigan under the 

Deferment of Special Assessments on Homesteads Act at 225 of 1976 or 

under the USDA 504 Home Repair Program or the USDA 502 Home 

Repair Program. Any assistance received under the above-listed Programs 

will not count toward the asset limitations of the Township Hardship 

Programs or  prohibit a Property Owner who otherwise qualifies for the 

Township Programs from access to the hardship financing or hardship 

deferment as set forth below. 

 

B. Hardship Financing.  Property Owner(s) in Oshtemo Charter Township 

may enter into an Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement to finance 

their connection fees as provided in the Wastewater Services Ordinance, 

No. 208.  In addition to the Property Owner(s’) right to enter into an 

Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement under Ordinance No. 208, the 

following individuals may request that the Private Plumbing Expenses be 

paid for by the Township and added to the Installment Payment Mortgage 

Agreement and be financed upon the same terms and the same interest rate 

offered under Ordinance No. 208, provided the Property Owner(s) meet 

the following income and assets limitations: 

 

1. Income Limitation.  Property Owner(s) whose family income is at 

or below $34,999.00, for the year at issue.   

 

2. Asset Limitation. In addition to the Income Limitations require-

ments, an asset test considering all assets owned by the applicant, 

other than the applicant’s house, vehicle, and household goods, 

will be used in determining whether relief should be granted. 

Property Owner(s) with assets in excess of $20,000 may not be 

eligible for hardship financing. 

 

C. Hardship Deferments.  Property Owner(s) who enter into an Installment 

Payment Mortgage Agreement, pursuant to Ordinance No. 208, may 

qualify for a Deferment provided they meet the following Income and 

Asset limitations set forth below. 

 

1. Income Limitation. Property Owner(s) whose family income is at 

or below $49,999.00, for the year at issue. 

 

2. Asset Limitation. In addition, to the Income Limitations 

requirements, an asset test considering all assets owned by the 



 

4 

 

applicant, other than the applicant’s house, vehicle, and household 

goods, will be used in determining whether relief should be 

granted. Property Owner(s) with assets in excess of $20,000 may 

not be eligible for a hardship deferment. 

 

D. Extraordinary Circumstances Warranting Deferment or Delay in 

Connection. Those Property Owner(s) who do not qualify under the above 

provisions may request consideration, based upon extraordinary 

circumstances, for deferment or delay in the connection to the public 

sanitary sewer system. The extraordinary circumstances which would be 

considered by the Hardship Advisory Review Committee would be items 

such as or similar to the following: death of a spouse; extraordinary 

medical expenses; recent home purchase (less than two years); 

bankruptcy; extreme debt impacting household disposable income,  

extreme difficulty in connecting to the public sanitary sewer system; etc. 

Those Property Owner(s) who believe they might qualify under the 

standards set forth herein may file an application as set forth in Section V 

below. 

 

E. Funding Limitation.  The granting of hardship financing or deferment 

under this Ordinance is subject to availability of funds in the hardship 

revolving fund as set forth in Sec. IX below. 

 

SECTION V.   APPLICATION 

 

A. Property Owner(s) must complete an application, except for the signature, 

and return it to the Township Officers. 

 

B. All applications must be signed and witnessed by a Township employee 

and filed after January 1, but at least two weeks before the Hardship 

Advisory Review Committee’s March meeting to be held the third week in 

March. 

 

C. All Property Owner(s) must submit their previous year’s Federal Income 

Tax and State Income Tax returns. 

 

D. Applicants may be required to be present at the Hardship Advisory 

Review Committee meeting and may be called upon to appear on short 

notice.  

 

E. All questions set forth in the Application must be completed prior to the 

Hardship Advisory Review Committee meeting including notice to any 

mortgagee. 



 

5 

 

 

F. All applicants signing the Application are admitting that everything 

contained in the Application is true to their best knowledge, information 

and belief. 

 

G. Any Property Owner(s) requesting hardship financing or deferment is 

subject to investigation by the Township to verify information submitted 

or statements made in regard to the request for deferment are accurate. 

 

H. The meeting of the Hardship Advisory Review Committee may be 

recorded. Minutes will be kept of all proceedings. All meetings held will 

comply with the Open Meetings Act. 

 

I. The Hardship Advisory Review Committee shall follow the policies and 

guidelines established under this Ordinance in granting or denying 

hardship financing or deferment. 

 

J. Property Owner(s) will be evaluated based upon the data submitted to the 

Hardship Advisory Review Committee. Testimony taken from the 

Property Owner(s) and information gathered from any source by the 

Township. 

 

K. Property Owner(s) shall meet the income and asset limitation set forth 

herein may be granted hardship financing, deferment, or partial deferment 

of their sanitary sewer fees or private plumbing expenses. 

 

L. The Hardship Advisory Review Committee’s recommendations regarding 

sanitary sewer connection fees or private plumbing expense fees for 

deferment will be done on an annual basis.  

 

SECTION VI.  DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 

 

 A. The Hardship Advisory Review Committee shall, within thirty (30) days 

of the close of its investigation, file with the Township Board its report 

and recommendation clearly stating whether any hardship financing or 

deferment for the sewer system connection fees or private plumbing 

expenses will be recommended.  

 

B. The Hardship Advisory Review Committee will not recommend hardship 

financing or a deferral unless the Property Owner(s) agree to enter into an 

Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement to connect to the available 

public sanitary sewer system. 

 



 

6 

 

C. Upon receipt of the Hardship Advisory Review Committee’s 

recommendation regarding any premises, the Township Board shall 

promptly determine, without the necessity of a public hearing, whether to 

accept the recommendation. No recommendation of hardship for any 

premises shall be rejected without good cause shown and until the 

Property Owner(s) have had an opportunity to answer the objections 

before the Township Board. A recommendation of hardship not rejected 

by the Township Board within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt thereof 

shall be deemed accepted and shall entitle the Owner thereof to be 

qualified for connection under the provisions of this division. Following 

Board approval, any premises not connected to the available sewage 

system shall connect to the public sanitary sewer system, whether the 

connection is made under the provisions of this article or otherwise. 

  

SECTION VII. CONNECTION; COSTS; LIEN  

 

A. In the event an Owner is accepted for hardship financing or deferment, the 

Township will effectuate connection to the public sanitary sewer system. 

The Public Works Director will ascertain the sewer connection fees and/or 

private plumbing expense to connect the premises to the system. The 

Public Works Director will determine whether the physical connection is 

to be accomplished by a licensed sewer contractor or by the agencies and 

employees of the City. The Township reserves to itself the sole and 

exclusive right to make or alter its designation as made herein previous to 

the commencement of the physical connection. Prior to the connection, the 

Owner shall execute an Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement for 

Sewer with the Township for financing or possible deferred payment 

payable on or before death, or in any event, on the sale or transfer of the 

property.  

 

B. The Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement shall also include annual 

interest on the balance of such indebtedness to the Township at the rate set 

by the Board in Ordinance No. 208, commencing the date of the execution 

of documents of indebtedness. 

 

C. The Property Owner(s) shall also be responsible for costs of recording the 

Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement. Such costs shall be added to 

the amount due and owing upon the Installment Payment Mortgage 

Agreement to be executed by the Owner of the premises. 

 



 

7 

 

SECTION VIII. PHYSICAL CONNECTION.  Upon execution of the documents in 

accordance with the provisions of Section VII, the Public Works Director 

will complete the physical connection of the premises to the public 

sanitary sewer system in accordance with all laws, ordinances, rules and 

regulations of the State, City and Township. 

 

SECTION IX.  HARDSHIP REVOLVING FUND; BOARD CONTROL.  The monies 

necessary to implement the provisions of this Ordinance shall be drawn 

from the “hardship revolving fund” to be created and maintained by the 

Township Board. This fund shall be the sole source of Township monies 

to be used for hardship funding under this Ordinance. The Township 

Board may transfer funds between the general fund and the hardship 

revolving fund as necessary to implement the provisions of this 

Ordinance. 

 

SECTION X.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication 

after adoption in accordance with State law.  All Ordinances or parts of 

Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

DUSTY FARMER, CLERK 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

 



 

1 

 

 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

HARDSHIP FINANCING OR DEFERMENT APPLICATION 

FOR SANITARY SEWER PAYMENTS 

 

 This form should be completed if you, for reasons of hardship, are unable to finance the 

private plumbing expenses to connect to public sanitary sewer or are unable to pay the annual 

payment on your Installment Payment Mortgage Agreement for Sewer with Oshtemo Township. 

In applying for hardship financing or deferment, you will be required to provide annually: 

1. Specific income and asset information (for yourself and all individuals residing in your 

home); 

 

2. Proof of your ownership (deed, land contract, or other evidence of ownership) and 

occupancy of the residence for which you are seeking an exemption; 

 

3. State and Federal income tax returns and/or property tax credit returns (for yourself and all 

individuals residing in your home); 

 

4. A valid driver’s license or other legally valid form of picture identification; 

 

5. Proof that you meet the income and asset standards of the Public Sanitary Sewer Hardship 

Financing or Deferment Ordinance;  

 

6. A completed application, delivered in person, to the Public Works Department after 

January 1 but no later than March 1 for consideration by the Hardship Advisory Review 

Committee (HARC) which meets the third week in March to consider applications.  

 Additionally, you may be required to appear before the HARC at a public meeting to 

answer questions regarding your application. You may also be subject to an investigation to verify 

the information submitted in your application and establish that your non-exempt assets do not 

exceed $20,000. 

These policies are set by the Oshtemo Charter Township Board in compliance with 

Michigan State Law. The Township will use criteria established in its Public Sanitary Sewer 

Abatement/Deferral Ordinance to review your application. If you have any questions, please 

contact the Public Works Department at (www.oshtemo.org/contact/ or (269) 375-4260). 

IF YOU ARE UNSURE WHETHER YOU QUALIFY BUT ARE HAVING FINANCIAL 

DIFFICULTY, PLEASE SUBMIT THE APPLICATION TO SEE IF YOU WOULD 

QUALIFY FOR ASSISTANCE. 

http://www.oshtemo.org/contact/


 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

Instructions for filing a claim with the Township Public Works Department: 

1. Complete the following application in full, but do not sign the form. 

 

2. Do not leave any sections blank, if you have questions regarding this form, please contact 

the Public Works Department for guidance. 

 

3. If you require additional space to respond to any of the questions on this form, please attach 

a typed response, which clearly indicates which question(s) you are providing additional 

information regarding. 

 

4. Completed applications must be delivered in person to the Public Works Department by 

March 1st.  

 

5. Bring copies of all requested documents: 

a. Previous year State and Federal Tax Returns;  

b. Proof of ownership/residency/homestead for the residence for which you are 

requesting a hardship exemption; 

 

6. Bring the completed, unsigned, form in person to: 

 Oshtemo Township Hall 

 7275 West Main Street,  

 Kalamazoo, MI 49009  

 (296) 375-4260 

 

7. Bring your driver’s license, or other legally valid picture identification with you. 

 

8. Sign the form when directed by the Township personnel, and provide your ID for 

photocopying, if requested. 

 

  



 

3 

 

SANITARY SEWER HARDSHIP OR DEFERRAL APPLICATION FORM 

 

Street Address: ____________________________________________________________ 

Parcel Number:  3905-_______ - _____ - _______ 

 

SECTION 1: APPLICANT INFORMATION 

 

Name of Applicant: _________________________________________________________ 

Marital Status (circle one):    Married Single       Divorced      Other _____________ 

Social Security Number: _________-________-_________   

Driver’s License/State ID Number: ____________________  

Issuing State: _____________________________________ 

Phone Number: ____________________________________ 

Email address: _____________________________________ 

 

Are you the sole owner of this property?   Yes / No  

If no, please provide: 

Name of Co-Applicant: ________________________________________________________ 

Social Security Number: _________-________-__________   

Driver’s License/State ID Number: ____________________  

Issuing State: ______________________________________ 

Phone Number: ____________________________________ 

Email address: _____________________________________ 

 

SECTION 2: HOUSEHOLD, INCOME, AND ASSET INFORMATION 

 

1.  Please provide the following information for all people (including yourself) who live at the 

above address. 



 

4 

 

Name Relationship Age Monthly 

Income 

 

 

  $ 

 

 

  $ 

 

 

  $ 

 

 

  $ 

   $ 

 

 

2.  Do you currently have a mortgage on this property?    Yes / No 

 If yes, please provide: 

  Current unpaid balance of your mortgage: $_________________ 

  Monthly payment amount: $______________ 

  Name of your mortgage company: __________________________________ 

  Has the mortgagee been notified regarding the Financing Agreement 

  with the Township?   Yes / No 

  

3.  Do you rent or lease any portion of this property?    Yes / No  

 If yes, what portion? __________% Monthly rent collected: $____________ 

 

4.  Please list all household income, and specify which member of your household supplies the 

income from each applicable source: 

 

Type of Income  Amount (monthly) Source (self, co-applicant, etc.) 

Salary/wages  $  

Social Security $  

Pension(s) $  

Unemployment $  

Disability $  

Dividends/ Interest Income $  

Workmen’s Compensation $  

Alimony $  



 

5 

 

Child Support $  

Rental $  

Other: $  

         Total Monthly $ _______________ 

 

APPLICATIONS WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED WITHOUT COPIES OF YOUR LATEST FEDERAL AND 

STATE INCOME TAX RETURNS (REGARDLESS OF YOUR INCOME) ATTACHED. 

 

1. Please list the following Bank Account information for all residents at this address: 

Name(s) on Account Name of Bank/Credit Union Current 

Balance 

  $ 

  $ 

  $ 

  $ 

 

 

2. Please provide the following information about your monthly expenses: 

 

 

 

3. Do you, or your co-applicant, own other land/houses?   Yes / No  

Paid to (Company) Expense Type 

(utilities, loans, 

medical bills, etc.) 

Monthly 

payment 

Outstanding 

debt/ account 

balance 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 

 

 

 $ $ 



 

6 

 

If yes, please provide the following: 

 

Name(s) on 

Title 

Location Current 

Value 

Outstanding 

Mortgage 

Balance 

Mortgage Company 

Information 

  $ $  

  $ $  

  $ $  

  $ $  

 

 

4. Do you have any other assets (excluding your homestead and normal household goods) 

which have not otherwise been disclosed in this form? Yes / No. 

If yes, please list the assets and their approximate value: 

 

Asset Approximate Value 

 

 

$ 

 

 

$ 

 

 

$ 

 

 

$ 

 

 

$ 

 

 

SECTION 3: CERTIFICATION 

 

Please be aware, any willfully false statements or misrepresentations in this form may 

constitute perjury, an offense punishable under Michigan law. By signing this form, I 

acknowledge that the information on this application, and the documents provided by me in 

support of this application, are, to the best of my knowledge true and correct statements of 

fact regarding my property, income, and assets.  

 



 

7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 I, _______________________________________ being the owner and resident of the 

Oshtemo Township property listed on this form, request relief under Public Act 368 of 1978 

and Ordinance No. _______ adopted _______________. 

 

 

 

DO NOT SIGN THIS FORM UNTIL YOU ARE INSTRUCTED TO DO SO 

 

___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

Applicant’s Signature 

 

 

___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

Co-Applicant’s Signature 

 

 

Applicant(s) presented picture ID, and signed this form in my presence: 

 

 

Received by:______________________________  Date: _____________________ 



Subject Estimate

Cummulative 

Percentage

New Houesholds 

to be Connected 

(900)

Cost of Private 

Sewer Expense 

($6,000)

Mandate 

USDA/State 

Plans

Cost of 

Deferment 

$550/Yr

Mandate 

USDA/State 

Plan

Cost of 

Abatement 

$550/Yr

Occupied housing units 5,267

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 2010

Less than $5,000 0.8 0.8 7.2 43,200$             -$             3,960$      -$            3,960$      

$5,000 to $9,999 2.1 2.9                26 156,000$           -$             14,300$    -$            14,300$    

$10,000 to $14,999 2.7 5.6                50 300,000$           -$             27,500$    -$            27,500$    

$15,000 to $19,999 3.1 8.7                78 468,000$           -$             42,900$    -$            42,900$    

$20,000 to $24,999 3.3 12.0              108 648,000$           180,000$     59,400$    16,500$      59,400$    

$25,000 to $34,999 7.8 19.8              178 1,068,000$        600,000$     97,900$    55,000$      97,900$    

$35,000 to $49,999 13.8 33.6              302 1,812,000$        1,344,000$  166,100$  123,200$    166,100$  

$50,000 to $74,999 20.7 54.3              488 2,928,000$        2,460,000$  268,400$  225,500$    268,400$  

$75,000 to $99,999 9.2 63.5              571 3,426,000$        2,958,000$  314,050$  271,150$    314,050$  

$100,000 to $149,999 20.1 83.6              752 4,512,000$        4,044,000$  413,600$  370,700$    413,600$  

$150,000 or more 16.4 100.0            900 5,400,000$        4,932,000$  495,000$  452,100$    495,000$  

Median household income 69,024$     

Owner-Occupied


	Agenda
	B. Village Theme Development
	C. Zoning Amendments - Landscaping
	Da. Zoning Ordinance Amendments - Lighting
	Db. Zoning Ordinance Amendments - Setbacks
	Dc. Zoning Ordinance - Accessory Buildings
	E. Sanitary Sewer Hardship Financing or Deferment Ordinance



